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Peace Direct  
Annual Report 2017

Trustees’ report for  
1 January-31 December 2017

The trustees are pleased to present their annual directors’ report 
together with the financial statements of the charity for the year ended 
31st December 2017 which are also prepared to meet the requirements 
for a directors’ report and accounts for Companies Act purposes.

The financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the Companies Act 2006, the 
Memorandum and Articles of Association, and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1st January 2015). 
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Executive summary

Peace Direct came to the end of the second year of our ambitious 
five-year strategy in 2017. This is focused around six pillars: 
• Strengthening local peacebuilding organisations
• Building safer communities 
• Improving peacebuilding policy
• Deepening our learning 
• Generating more income and better communications 
• Strengthening our people and systems

We saw exciting progress against this strategy over the year, despite a difficult political and financial 
environment and increased staff turnover in the year. 

Our income was £3,095,307, an increase of £1,273,908 (70%) from 2016. This was mainly due to 
growth in restricted grants and increased corporate income. 

Highlights of the year included: 
• Beginning work with our new partner Zoom In in Syria, and establishing a new partnership in 

Mali. 
• Securing some major grants from the EU, the UK Foreign and Commonwealth Office, German 

Federal Foreign Office, the Canadian Government and the Belgian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 
We were also delighted to win the inaugural ‘Bridgebuilder Challenge’ run by the GHR 
Foundation in association with OpenIDEO, for our proposed work to support ex-combatants 
in two gold mining cooperatives in Ituri Province, in Eastern DR Congo to produce ethical and 
environmentally friendly gold as a way of consolidating peace in the area. 

• Increasing our advocacy to the US Government and Member States at the UN, in particular 
through co-hosting an event with the United States Institutes of Peace in New York, and 
producing ‘Local Voices for Peace’ reports on Pakistan, Zimbabwe and on Countering Violent 
Extremism.

• Continuing to increase our public outreach and individual giving through better communications 
materials, increased quality and quantity of stories, and the launch of a new fundraising product. 

While financial conditions remain tough for small charities, we are encouraged by the continuing 
support of our existing donors to our work as well as of new donors who have helped us deliver 
more ambitious work this year. We are proud to have a strong funding basis for our work, testament 
to the power of local peacebuilders to transform communities from the inside out.
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Peace Direct’s vision and mission

Our vision

A just world free from violent conflict

Our mission

To work with local people to stop violent conflict and build sustainable peace

Our values

We believe in:

Non-violence: Conflict is a normal part of life. Violence is not. We believe that non-violent action 
is not only the morally right thing to do; it is also highly cost effective, scalable and strengthens the 
prospects for long term peace. 

The power of local action: We believe that local people are central to the resolution of their own 
conflicts. Peace is rarely sustainable if it is imposed on people from the outside. 

Partnership & respect: The relationships we build with organisations around the world must be 
based on the principles of equality and respect. We have more to learn from our partners than they 
do from us and we see ourselves as an extension of their organisations, not the other way around. 

We are: 

Non-partisan: We do not take sides in a conflict, but this does not mean that we will not speak out 
when rights are being violated. 

Entrepreneurial: We are nimble, creative and unafraid to challenge orthodox thinking.
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Our strategy 

Our five year strategy (2016-2020) aims to deliver more impact for conflict 
affected communities, through the power of local action. A summary of 
the goals is below, reported on in detail in the progress section. 

1. Strengthened local peacebuilders 

KSO 1: Peace Direct’s portfolio of local partnerships will grow by 50%, and they and other 
local peacebuilding organisations around the world will be strengthened to enable them to 
play a more central role in peacebuilding efforts. 

Peace Direct will aim to establish approximately 15 strategic partners, including both high 
capacity organisations and smaller partners, and to encourage learning and sharing with a 
dynamic network of partners and other civil society actors. Peace Direct’s local partners will 
be strengthened through organisational development, technical support and funding, and a 
continuous assessment of the barriers and opportunities to local peacebuilders.

2. Safer communities

KSO 2: Local communities in conflict affected countries are safer, with fewer incidents of 
tensions spilling into violence as a result of more timely action by local peacebuilders.

People affected by armed violence in countries emerging from conflict, and those at risk of 
radicalisation and extremism will be helped to reintegrate into their communities and to 
contribute to reconciliation and long term peace. Violence will be reduced though locally led 
early warning and rapid response activities.

3. Improved peacebuilding policy 

KSO 3: The policies, attitudes and practice of international donors and policymakers will be 
more supportive of local peacebuilding, through focused effort to raise peacebuilders’ voice, 
profile and expertise. 

Donors and INGOs in developed and developing countries will recognise the value and 
contributions that local peacebuilders can make in providing valuable knowledge to inform 
a better understanding of local conflict dynamics. Peace Direct will be a champion for local 
peacebuilders globally and will seek allies across different sectors to ensure increased support 
and a greater participation in decision making, policy and practice for local peacebuilders.
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Our strategy

4. Better and deeper learning

KSO 4: Peace Direct and its partners aim to be at the forefront of learning and reflection on 
what works in the field of local peacebuilding, as well as what support the local peacebuilding 
sector needs from outsiders. 

Peace Direct will become a learning organisation, ensuring continuous analysis and questioning 
of existing practices and assumptions, as well as piloting new ideas and initiatives linked to our 
thematic and strategic priorities. A commitment to learning will be reflected on multiple levels, 
by contributing to sector learning that helps improve policy and practice, and exploring locally 
led and sustainable models of monitoring, evaluation and learning.

5. More ambitious fundraising and communications

KSO 5: Peace Direct will double its annual income over the next five years, to £3m, and will 
have a diverse and stable source of financing, enabling it to cover core costs from unrestricted 
funding, test new approaches and ideas with partners, and build reserves that protect it from 
unforeseen fluctuations in income. 

Peace Direct will increase its unrestricted income from individual donors to at least 50% of core 
running costs, and £2m per year of institutional and Trust/Foundation income will be secured 
from a diverse range of sources by the end of 2020. Peace Direct’s marketing and communications 
will reinforce its position among key audiences as a leader in locally led peacebuilding, and Peace 
Direct’s competencies in mapping, convening and supporting local peacebuilders will be marketed 
to generate increased income from commercial contracts and grants.

6. Improved systems, staffing and structure 

KSO 6: Peace Direct will have skilled and motivated staff, Board and interns and will 
develop its systems and process to enable it to deliver high quality work and support to local 
peacebuilders around the world. 

Peace Direct will invest in strengthening its internal systems, as well as staff, volunteer and 
Board training and development to ensure the highest standards of skills and work. The 
organisational structure will be defined, including exploring innovative ways of increasing its 
presence in local peacebuilding efforts in other strategically important countries.
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Progress against plan in 2017

Now in the second year of our strategy, we made some encouraging progress 
towards or goals, which are outlined below under each strategic objective. 

Key Strategic Objective 1 
To grow our portfolio of partnerships and strengthen 
the capacity of our partners and local peacebuilders 
more widely to enable them to play a more central role in 
peacebuilding efforts. 

Objective 1.1: Grow the number of strategic partners and ensure that 
we continue to assist small organisations as well as higher capacity 
organisations. 

Why this is important 
We have ambitions to support more organisations building peace in their communities as there are 
still too few organisations like Peace Direct supporting locally led efforts. Our approach has always 
been to support smaller organisations and nurture them over time, to foster a peace that is owned 
and sustained by local communities. We will continue to do this whilst looking for organisations that 
have already achieved scale in their work but could benefit from additional support to grow further. 

What we did this year 
• We established four new partnerships, in Syria, Nigeria, Mali and Pakistan, and were able to continue 

supporting our partner in Syria to provide assistance to young people injured as a result of the war. 

• In Mali, thanks to funding from the Canadian Government, we established a new project to 
build the capacity of local peacebuilding organisations to help them consolidate peace in their 
communities. This project, delivered in collaboration with WANEP-Mali, aims to strengthen civil 
society’s local capacity for peace, with a particular emphasis on women-led organisations. Instead 
of working through a single organisation, we will be taking a novel approach by supporting the 
networking and coordination capacities of clusters of local organisations across the country. 
We are excited about the potential for multiplying the impact of individual organisations and 
enhancing the reach and the remit of peacebuilding initiatives that are locally led. The project will 
promote strategic coordination between the organisations involved so they can better shape the 
future of their communities and respond to violence.
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Progress against plan in 2017

• From May-July 2017 Peace Direct supported a number of pilot projects in Yemen with the aim 
of enhancing peacebuilding and social cohesion, including two radio programs run with local 
community radio stations in the capital Sana’a, a series of workshops on peacebuilding and 
reconciliation targeting young people, and an ‘Art for Peace’ gallery with young children, giving 
them a safe space to draw and speak about their hopes, fears and life in a war zone. Through all 
activities, 2600 people were reached directly, with an estimated 200,000 reached through the 
radio transmissions.

• We were delighted to win the 2017 Bridgebuilder Challenge, run by GHR Foundation in 
collaboration with OpenIDEO. With this grant, we will implement an ambitious three-year 
project which aims at bringing peace and stability to communities in Ituri Province in eastern 
DR Congo by supporting ex-combatants to produce ethical and environmentally friendly gold. 
This innovative project, which will be implemented with our partner Centre Résolutions Conflits 
(CRC) aims to address key drivers of insecurity and destruction in one of the world’s most deadly 
conflicts by bridging the issues of peace, prosperity and the planet. 

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Continue working on a partner strategy, country plans and programme development strategy. 
• Maintain support to strategic partners and provide focused support to smaller and newer 

partners, in existing priority countries.
• Scope 1-2 new partners in line with the programme strategy. 

Objective 1.2: Peace Direct’s partners will be strengthened through 
specific technical support and funding for organisational development, 
including core funding and support for their own income generation. 

Why this is important 
Donors often argue that the capacity of local organisations is too low for them to provide direct 
funding. However, donors are at the same time reluctant to provide capacity building funding so that 
local organisations can strengthen their capacity. This leaves local organisations locked in a cycle of 
being too small to attract any type of funding and therefore never having the chance to grow. We 
want to change this situation by providing bespoke capacity building support to our partners so they 
can become strong, financially sustainable organisations. 

What we did this year 
• We provided tailor-made in-country fundraising training and programme development support 

to partners in Sudan, DR Congo, Zimbabwe, Nigeria, the Philippines and Burundi, leading to 
higher quality fundraising proposals, concept notes, and an increase in grant funding. 

• As part of our USAID funded research project, ‘Facilitating Financial Sustainability’, we carried 
out research in DR Congo and the Philippines on how civil society organisations can achieve 
long term financial sustainability, how donors practices can improve and how dependence on 
international donors can be reduced. 
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• In March 2017 we facilitated a five-day teambuilding workshop in Gulu, Uganda for our local 
partner, Centre Résolution Confilts (CRC). The workshop was attended by approximately 20 
participants from CRC and from the Beni Peace Forum, (further reported on below under 
objective 1.3) and was designed to enhance skills for working together more effectively and 
collaboratively. The workshop introduced participants to varied methods of teambuilding 
and teamwork, and also involved stress management training for working with vulnerable 
communities. In a post-workshop report, all participants noted that they felt better prepared 
to work collaboratively and to deal with the harsh realities of working in dangerous, unstable 
environments and supporting ex-combatants. The workshop in Gulu took place at the same time 
as more focused training for 6 members of CRC on providing psychological support and how to 
protect themselves as peacebuilders. On one day both groups came together for a day of focused 
training on psychological support, counselling skills and arts therapy training for working with 
vulnerable communities and child soldiers.

• We provided Zoom In, our new partner in Syria, with capacity building support in financial 
management after they identified this as being one of their most pressing needs. Whilst the 
security situation in Syria has impeded the delivery of training, Zoom In has so far found the 
support extremely useful, and we look forward to continuing to support their capacity for 
financial management. 

• We began drafting a follow up to Responding to Conflict’s highly successful book ‘Working with 
Conflict’ – a practical toolkit for peacebuilders, which we hope to finalise in 2018. 

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Complete a partner assessment with all strategic partners every six months.
• Support one partner to identify income generating activities that could cover its core costs. 
• Share the learning with our partners and the international community on supporting the 

transition to financial independence and sustainability.
• Finalise the new ‘Working with Conflict’ book.

Objective 1.3: Peace Direct’s partners and other civil society actors 
will learn from their peers and others internationally, creating dynamic 
networks of support, learning and solidarity. 

Why this is important 
In many parts of the world, local organisations continue to be sidelined by donors, international 
NGOs and changes to governments. The reasons that local organisations are often bypassed 
include concerns about low capacity, not knowing how to find good local actors and logistical 
difficulties in engaging with local actors spread across a country. As a result, local actors rarely 
have the opportunity to share their experiences and perspectives with the international 
community or strategise together to build new alliances. We want to change this. 

Progress against plan in 2017
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What we did this year 
• Following a series of workshops held with local communities in 2016, the Beni Peace Forum, an 

Early Warning Early Response (EWER) network, made good progress in establishing itself as 
a locally driven coalition of peacebuilding actors. The network is designed to identify low level 
outbreaks of conflict which can be addressed swiftly, to prevent the conflict spreading. Made up 
of 30 local leaders and peace activists, the Forum coordinates local peacebuilding efforts and 
sets locally driven priorities. In June 2017, we facilitated a four-day workshop in Uganda with 30 
members of the Beni Peace Forum to strengthen its Early Warning Early Response (EWER) capacity 
for detecting outbreaks of violence in DR Congo, and setting up an effective and local EWER 
system. The workshop was aimed at understanding best practice principles and data monitoring, 
and exploring techniques for involving the community in the process. This was one of the final group 
activities of a series held in DR Congo and externally to build capacity within the group and search 
for practical solutions to stopping violence, and all participants reported that they found the session 
useful and would be able to implement what they had learnt in their daily work. 

• We held two online global consultations as part of our ‘Local Voices for Peace’ initiative. The 
initiative aims to bring experts and practitioners from across the world together to discuss topics 
related to conflict and peacebuilding. The first was a consultation on the topic of peacebuilding 
approaches to countering violent extremism (CVE), bringing together 118 expert participants 
from 36 countries. 92% of participants were either ‘satisfied’ or ‘very satisfied’ with it, and 
feedback pointed to the open, friendly and interactive discussion from participants with rich and 
diverse views, and the importance of a platform sustained by Peace Direct to share and exchange 
views and information. The findings from the consultation were published by Peace Direct in a 
publicly available report: https://www.peacedirect.org/publications/ 
full-report-peacebuilding-violent-extremism/. In addition, we held a second online consultation 
on Atrocity Prevention in November 2017 and look forward to publishing the findings in 2018, as 
well as establishing further global consultations. 

• We ran an in-country practitioner workshop (also called ‘Peace Exchange’) in Zimbabwe in April 
2017. The 21 participating organisations, which had been mapped out in previous research 
conducted at www.peaceinsight.org, surveyed more than 150 community volunteers and 
peace activists to gather local views on current and future prospects for peace in the country. 
The findings were published in a report which is available here: https://www.peacedirect.org/
publications/local-voices-peace-zimbabwe/ 

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Run a ‘Peace Exchange’ exclusively for Peace Direct’s partners, to encourage shared learning and 

to review our partnership with them.
• Support collaboration and learning between our partners in DR Congo and Burundi on running 

effective early warning systems, so outbreaks of violence can be better predicted and prevented. 
• Run one online consultation on Youth and Peacebuilding to support the new UN Security Council 

Resolution on Youth, Peace and Security. 
• Run in-country Peace Exchanges in Mali and Somalia, to encourage joint strategising and 

learning.

Progress against plan in 2017
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Progress against plan in 2017

Objective 1.4: Peace Direct will assess the barriers and opportunities to 
the effective work of local peacebuilders and retain the ability to respond 
flexibly to support them. 

Why this is important
Finding new and creative ways to support the work of local peacebuilders is essential when the 
current international aid system is so heavily weighed against local actors. To counteract this, we 
will continue to think of different routes for providing support and demonstrating the capacity and 
knowledge held by local organisations, and their ability to understand and respond to local conflict 
dynamics. We will also contribute further energy to researching the barriers that exist in assisting 
local organisations, and continuously assess the best ways to overcome them. 

What we did this year 
• Throughout the year we made great progress on our two USAID ‘Local Works’ funded research 

projects, the ‘Facilitating Financial Sustainability’ (FFS) project, and the ‘Stopping As Success’, 
(SAS) project. Through extensive research and case study visits to Colombia, Bosnia, DR Congo 
and the Philippines the FFS project aims to strengthen local organisations’ financial sustainability 
and organisational autonomy by analysing the external and internal factors at play to understand 
the barriers and opportunities. The SAS project, a collaborative learning project carried out by 
Peace Direct, Search for Common Ground and CDA Collaborative Learning Projects, assesses the 
ways in which development programmes end, and focusses on responsible exit strategies and aid 
transitions, looking at twenty case studies of INGO exit and transitions in a range of locations in 
Asia, Africa and Latin America. As the ‘Local Works’ projects continue, and the research is verified 
and written up, we will share the findings with local organisations and the sector. More in depth 
reporting on the activities within our ‘Local Works’ projects can be found under objective 3.2 

• Our ‘Tomorrow’s Peacebuilders’ awards, in its fifth year, is one way that we try to ensure that 
local organisations can be acknowledged, profiled and supported by Peace Direct, and that 
vulnerable, voiceless or marginalised groups are included and considered in the process. By 
running an open and accessible application process, we aim to remove the barriers that often 
prevent local organisations from receiving support. This year, we were delighted to receive a 
record 268 applications from 57 countries. Our categories this year celebrated peacebuilding 
that was women-led, youth-led and promoted interreligious dialogue, and we selected three of 
the most exciting and innovative peacebuilding organisations as winners: 

Women-led Peacebuilding | Safecity  
The Red Dot Foundation (Safecity) is a local peacebuilding organisation based in India working 
to eradicate sexual violence in public spaces and make it safer for both women and girls. They 
created an online platform named Safecity which enables women to publish anonymous personal 
stories of sexual harassment and abuse, and have collected over 10,000 stories from 50 cities in 
India, Cameroon, Nepal, Nigeria and Trinidad & Tobago, directly reaching over 400,000 people. 
With the help of the Tomorrow’s Peacebuilders prize, Safecity hopes to reach a further 100,000 
young women over the next two years and add new languages to their mobile app. 
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Progress against plan in 2017

Youth-led Peacebuilding | Centre for Social Integrity 
The Centre for Social Integrity (CSI) works across Myanmar and is one of the only civil society 
organisations actively working in the Rakhine region. In response to the ongoing crisis, their 
aim is to strengthen the Rohingya people’s ability to strategically advocate for their own civic, 
political and human rights. The team has been recruiting, interviewing and selecting participants 
to build social cohesion between Rohingya and other Myanmar ethnic groups. With the help of 
the Tomorrow’s Peacebuilders prize money, CSI will launch its ‘Emerging Leaders’ project. This 
project, including all the alumni it has trained, will create a collective platform able to respond 
peacefully to political, social or economic change. 

Inter-religious Peacebuilding | Islamic Counselling Initiative of Nigeria 
The Islamic Counselling Initiative of Nigeria (ICIN) is a community based interfaith project 
established to support vulnerable groups affected by recurring conflicts in Plateau State, 
northern Nigeria. Starting with humanitarian response activities, the organisation has grown to 
cover peacebuilding, security and governance, gender issues and addressing the root causes of 
conflicts. The Tomorrow’s Peacebuilders prize money will enable ICIN to expand its advocacy 
and peacebuilding training forums. 

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Continuing our Tomorrow’s Peacebuilders awards as a way of identifying and promoting 

promising innovative organisations and projects. 
• Disseminating some of the research findings from the USAID ‘Local Works’ research projects. 
• Commissioning a scoping study on innovative financing for local peacebuilding. 
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Progress against plan in 2017

Key Strategic Objective 2 
Local communities in conflict affected countries are safer, 
with fewer incidents of tensions spilling into violence as a 
result of more timely action by local peacebuilders. 

Objective 2.1: Local communities will experience a reduction in violence 
or the triggers of violence as a result of locally led early warning and rapid 
response activities.

Why this is important
Local people are the first to spot the warning signs of violence in their communities. If supported 
early enough, they can respond effectively and stop the tensions escalating into violence. Even 
when violence has flared, timely rapid response can stop it escalating. We are increasingly 
investing efforts in Early Warning and Early Response (EWER) activities, as well as in rapid 
response initiatives, and our work to support EWER and rapid response activities to stop violence 
significantly increased this year. We support vital early warning and response activities in Burundi, 
Sudan and DR Congo, helping local organisations to track and respond to outbreaks of violence, or 
the threat of violence. 

What we did this year

Burundi
In Burundi we continued support to our local partner INAMA and their violence and human rights 
monitoring and response work that takes place across the entire country. INAMA is now a network 
of 18 local organisations that monitor, report and respond to incidents of violence, abuse and hate 
speech, and provides up to date information through trained Citizen Reporters present in every 
province. 

Highlights include:

• During the year, 2,318 incidences of violence or abuse were collected across all 18 provinces of 
the country, reported on by 162 Citizen Reporters. These reports were verified and sent to Peace 
Direct who distributed them to 362 international decision makers across the world. INAMA also 
ran capacity building training for 18 Citizen Reporters on data collection and violence monitoring 
and response. 

• Our partner also made progress on the response side of their activities, despite the repressive 
and dangerous environment. 235 peace activities were initiated with support from the Citizen 
Reporters across the country. Despite the extremely restrictive environment, INAMA continues 
to provide a crucial and unique source of information to the international community, as well 
as carrying out peacebuilding activities in communities affected by violence and human rights 
violations.
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Progress against plan in 2017

Sudan 
In Sudan, our work with the Collaborative for Peace in Sudan (CfPS) experienced significant funding 
challenges. The previous work funded by the UK’s Foreign and Commonwealth Office ended in March 
2017, and a new grant with the Belgian Government did not come into place until October 2017. 
Despite this, the vital functions of CfPS continued without external support or funding, though at a 
reduced rate. 

Over the year, 15 Peace Committees spread across South and West Kordofan and Blue Nile states 
continued to respond to outbreaks of violence. 

During the year, four Rapid Response Fund (RRF) interventions were implemented across six 
communities in the area. This reached a total of 13,521 people, including the communities the Peace 
Committee members operated in, making them safer and preventing outbreaks of violence. There 
were an additional two non RRF interventions run by CfPS over the year which halted the violence 
between nomadic herders and established farmers in communities in West Kordofan. This led to a 
dramatic reduction in the number of conflict related deaths from 150 in 2016 to none as of June 2017. 

Remarkably, despite a six-month gap in funding for the work of the Peace Committees, all continued to 
operate and two interventions were carried out, testament to the truly local and effective method of 
conflict resolution these Committees provide. 

North Kivu, DR Congo

Our support to the Beni Peace Forum, which is reported on fully on under objective 1.3, deepened 
in 2017, with the Forum fast developing into a locally-led early warning network alerting local 
populations to outbreaks of violence. The Forum also received three-day training on how to 
establish an EWER system and was given the opportunity to design their own approach to 
monitoring violent incidents with the assistance of a team of three EWER experts from the 
region. Among the incidents reported, the Forum was the first to report on an attack by the 
Allied Democratic Forces (ADF) in the sector of Beni-Mbau that took place on 5th July 2017. 
The ADF took control of a few local markets before being pushed back by the Armed Forces of 
the DR Congo (FARDC). The Forum was also able to report on and make several referrals to local 
organisations providing legal aid and support for victims of sexual violence, which are promising 
signs of an effective EWER network being established. 

Zimbabwe 
As in previous years, 2017 was a tough year for our local partner in Zimbabwe, Envision 
Zimbabwe Women’s Trust. Challenges included an almost complete lack of funding for most of the 
organisation’s programmes, the cash crisis in Zimbabwe making running activities difficult, and 
Mugabe leaving political office after 37 years, which has led to political turmoil and uncertainty.
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Progress against plan in 2017

A key concern for many Zimbabwean CSOs was the potential for violence around elections in 2018. 
Envision continued to prepare communities by working with local groups and leaders, and worked 
with the Zimbabwe Republic Police (ZRP) to produce a conflict resolution Training Manual for 
use by the police. Envision carried out refresher sessions on conflict transformation and violence 
prevention with 60 Traditional Leaders and Chiefs to ensure that communities are resilient in 
resisting violence and reached a further 221 people by strengthening traditional structures, 
workshops and its peace gardens initiative. 

In April 2017, Peace Direct held an in-country practitioner workshop ‘Peace Exchange’ in 
Zimbabwe in partnership with Envision Zimbabwe Women’s Trust. This brought together 21 local 
peacebuilding organisations to analyse causes of violence and future prospects for peace. A full 
report from the consultation has been published and is now available: https://www.peacedirect.org/
publications/local-voices-peace-zimbabwe/ 

In order to better understand the impact of Envision’s work, we commissioned an independent 
evaluation of their work in the districts of Hurungwe and Murewa. This found that despite a serious 
lack of funding there had been many long term changes that can be attributed to Envision’s work 
over the years. In particular, Envision’s work with traditional leaders and conflict transformation 
training had had a transformative effect for many communities. The results of this were published 
in a publicly available Learning Summary: https://www.peacedirect.org/publications/conflict-
transformation-zimbabwe/ 

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Following the successful training of the Beni Peace Forum in DR Congo, scale up their violence 

monitoring work to reach other areas.
• Continuing to support our Burundian partner’s violence and human rights monitoring work, 

including exploring improvements to its monitoring capabilities and upgrading the reporting 
system to make it more impactful. 

• Continue to support the early warning network in Sudan so civil society is better able to respond 
to triggers of violence. 

• Continue to support the core work of our partner in Zimbabwe and strive to find funding for their 
greatly under-funded work. 
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Progress against plan in 2017

Objective 2.2: People at risk of radicalisation and extremism will be 
supported to become active and responsible citizens as well as 
advocates for non-violence. 

Why this is important
Suicide attacks and atrocities committed by groups such as the Taliban in Pakistan, Al-Shabaab in 
Somalia and Daesh/IS across Syria and Iraq have focused the world’s attention on ‘countering violent 
extremism’ (or CVE for short) – a much contested term that has its roots in counterterrorism policy. 
Many organisations, including Peace Direct, have serious misgivings about the CVE agenda, not least 
because it is often interpreted as an effort simply to eliminate the threat of Islamic extremism while 
ignoring other forms of extremism (such as far right groups). CVE programming also tends to be heavily 
influenced by the counter terrorism agenda, which focuses on surveillance and military responses. We 
believe that to effectively address the risks of people joining extremist or militant groups, the root and 
causes of marginalisation and radicalisation need to be addressed, and alternatives need to be provided. 

What we did this year

Syria 
We began a project with our new local partner, Zoom In, having established the partnership in 2016. 
Zoom In work in the Governorate of Idlib, an area still suffering from violence and bombings. Zoom 
In themselves have been targeted by IS/Daesh and security remains a crucial risk for their work. In 
this extremely dangerous context, Zoom In made some significant achievements and enhanced their 
organisational capacity with support from Peace Direct.

This year, Zoom In implemented a training program for 104 young people disabled as a result of the 
war, providing them with livelihood staff training in a range of market relevant trades. Each of the 
training included 25 sessions of two hours each. Zoom In also provided 12 sessions in psychological 
support to deal with trauma caused by the war and their disability. Following the sessions, participants 
showed more psychological resistance, better ability to deal with the trauma of being disabled and 
increased ability to provide basic needs such as feeding their children. 

Pakistan 
In Pakistan we continued our long-term partnership with Aware Girls, supporting four projects 
funded by donors in the US, Europe and UK. These projects were aimed at working with young 
people at risk of radicalisation, ensuring the inclusion of women in political, social and peacebuilding 
processes, and strengthening education, training and advocacy activities through their networks.

Highlights of these projects are below:

• Aware Girls established and launched a ‘Young Women’s Peace Network’, funded by the Network 
for Social Change. Comprised of young women working together to enhance involvement in 
peacebuilding processes, the network organised consultations with female peace activists 
to develop policy briefs on building sustainable peace and countering radicalisation, and 
approaching policy makers regarding the inclusion of women in peacebuilding processes.
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• With the support of the Ploughshares Fund, activities continued with the ‘Youth Peace Network,’ 
with a new cohort of 28 young people training to become peace activists. The network organised 
11 monthly study circles for those at risk of radicalisation, as well as a music for peace initiative 
and inter-faith workshops, reaching 497 young people. To further extend the project’s reach, 
peace activists also went into various educational institutions including the University of Swabi, 
IM Sciences, and several secondary schools and Madrassas to provide workshops and dialogues 
on non-violence and countering violent extremism.

• Thanks to a grant from the Commonwealth Foundation, Aware Girls continued supporting 
women to get involved in political processes in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, developing training 
programmes and curricula focused on ensuring implementation of the laws on women’s electoral 
and political participation. They introduced a “Young women’s Toolkit for Active Civic and 
Political Participation” and created training curricula on how to increase female participation in 
political processes. 

• With support from the Stanley Thomas Johnson Foundation, Aware Girls continued their efforts 
to dissuade young people from joining extremist groups in Pakistan and Afghanistan through 
their advocacy activities. Members of the ‘Youth Peace Network’ participated in three advocacy 
meetings engaging parliamentarians and relevant officials. Female members of the network also 
came together to advocate against the Riwaj Act discriminating against women’s political and 
social participation.

Somalia 
In Somalia, we entered the final year of a three-year project funded by the EU, supporting 
livelihoods in the city of Kismayo in the southern part of the country. 

In April 2017, SADO started training for the second and third batches of its livelihood training 
programme, involving 131 young people learning to be plumbers, electricians, tailors and beauty 
technicians. The training for the fourth batch, involving 125 young men and women, began in August 
2017 and was completed at the end of November, providing training in carpentry, administration and 
computer literacy, and tie-dye. 

In addition, 252 people were trained in business management and given small grants of $300 as start-
up funding. The project had a retention rate of 96.2%, an excellent result that saw a total number of 
508 young people participating in vocational training across four batches.

Since the project began, a total of 501 young men and women have received a small business micro 
grant to boost their existing business or establish new income generating activities. In addition, 
300 women have received loans through VSLA activities (Village Savings and Loans Associations) 
designed to sustainably provide funds to groups of women. For those who decided not to set their 
own businesses up, SADO also supported young people in gaining jobs or internships, and provided 
civic education training for 641 vulnerable young people, to increase group dynamics and reduce 
social tensions. 
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Part of the aim of the project is to build relationships between different communities and groups 
in the city of Kismayo. SADO reports that the relationships between the project participants 
themselves have been excellent. Through activities such as youth advocacy groups (reaching 30 
young people this year), people from across cultures, ethnicities and tribal divides found similarities.

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Support SADO to deliver a new EU funded youth livelihoods and peacebuilding project in Somalia 

and develop proposal to expand work to new regions. 
• Continue to support the work of our partners in Pakistan and Syria and begin work with our new 

partner, the Peace Initiative Network (PIN) in northern Nigeria.
• Look at supporting a new project in Syria focused on establishing Peace Committees.

Objective 2.3: People affected by armed violence in countries emerging 
from conflict will be helped to reintegrate into their communities, and 
supported to bring about reconciliation, long term peace and sustainable 
development. 

Why this is important
Almost half of countries emerging from violent conflict, or which have signed a peace agreement, return 
to war within a decade. While there are many reasons why countries and communities return to war 
after a peace agreement, one common cause is that higher level agreements do not filter down to local 
communities where the horrors of war are still fresh in people’s minds. For peace to be sustainable, 
local people and communities must lead the efforts at rebuilding, reconciliation and rehabilitating those 
affected by the violence. Peace does not just happen. It takes time, effort and patience. 

What we did this year

North Kivu, DR Congo
In North Kivu we continued our support to Centre Résolution Conflits (CRC), whose work to help 
war-affected communities rebuild and become more resilient entered its third year funded by the 
Big Lottery Fund:

• Over the year, CRC supported 1,194 people through agricultural cooperatives that bring 
together vulnerable citizens and ex-combatants to run community cooperatives, breaking down 
mistrust and supporting vulnerable community members to earn an income. This supported 
a further 8,359 people indirectly through increased incomes, security and stability for the 
communities. Through ‘Community Mobilisation Groups’ which support local communities to 
become more resilient through farming training and radio broadcasts, CRC reached 984 people 
directly and a further 10,700 members of the community
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• CRC also reached 296 people in their aim to provide sustainable livelihoods for vulnerable young 
men and life them out of extreme poverty, through activities including rebuilding roads and 
buildings destroyed by war, and working to reduce stigma and providing trauma healing. Across 
the year, a further 4,499 people indirectly benefited from this work. 

• CRC reached 135 women in their aim to provide access to business training and microfinance 
credit for women affected by armed conflict, in order to stabilise their lives. Of this number 80 
women received micro loans as part of this and 125 women received business management 
support helping them to maximise profits from their micro credit. This supported a further 2,554 
people in the community, including families of the women, a crucial aspect in rebuilding war torn 
communities. All have more than doubled their incomes and are able to afford household objects 
like mattresses and solar lights, and to invest and increase their savings. 

Rescue and rehabilitation of child soldiers:
• With funding from various donors, CRC continued their work rescuing and resettling child 

soldiers drawn into local militia groups. In total 136 child soldiers were demobilised, with 81 child 
soldiers housed either with their families or with close relatives. This is an extremely difficult 
task as communities and families fear the returning soldiers, and reuniting 81 families in this 
environment is an impressive task, when the rates of return to militia remain high. 142 child 
soldiers received vocational training in trades such as mechanics, hairdressing and carpentry, 
supporting them to build a productive future for themselves and turn away from violence. 

• In one exciting development the UN Mission in DR Congo showed interest in working with CRC to 
carry out more child soldier rescue and reintegration projects for Beni and the surrounding area. This 
is significant interest from a high-level UN body, testament to the excellent work CRC is carrying out. 

• CRC also continued support to the Beni Peace Forum, reported on fully under objective 1.3. 

Supporting ex-combatants to produce environmentally friendly and ethically sourced gold as a 
pathway to peace
• As reported on page 10 under objective 1.1, we were able to secure a major new grant from the 

GHR Foundation to support two gold cooperatives in Ituri Province to radically change their 
gold production methods so that it can serve as a model for how gold production can deliver 
peacebuilding and environmental conservation outcomes. The project launched in November 
2017 with a start up workshop run by Peace Direct staff, as well as a series of stakeholder 
meetings to ensure buy in and support for this ambitious project.

South Kivu, DR Congo
In South Kivu we continued our support to Fondation Chirezi (FOCHI), whose work to strengthen the 
resilience of war-affected communities in the Ruzizi plain entered a new phase with funding from the 
German Federal Foreign Office. This focused on increasing access to justice and building economic 
resilience for war-affected communities. 
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Peace Courts:
• FOCHI continued support to a network of ‘Peace Courts’ that provide free access to justice in 

an area where this is virtually non-existent, or too expensive. Over the year, 36 courts received 
support from FOCHI, and 1020 members of the local community were supported through cases 
referred to the Courts, benefiting a wider community number of 6120 people. As part of FOCHI’s 
growth, they also supported the creation of 40 new courts (half run completely by women). 
FOCHI trained 380 mediators to support the running of the courts and worked with 755 local 
authority leaders such as police officers or low-level justice leaders as part of their Peace Court 
work to increase access to justice. 

• Many of the courts are run by and for women, to introduce safe spaces for women to discuss issues 
that affect them or that can stigmatise them in the eyes of the community. FOCHI held two sessions 
for women involved in the peace courts, local leaders and girls from local schools on gender-based 
violence. A further 34 sensitisation meetings with 1680 people were held by mediators trained by 
FOCHI to tackle violence against women and raise awareness of women’s rights. 

Micro finance and community development:
• FOCHI continued their vital work supporting community development by providing small 

business grants and training to those whose livelihoods have been damaged by war. An 
impressive 3561 micro loans were provided to economically vulnerable VSLA members by 
FOCHI across the year, benefiting a further 21,366 people 21,366 people and their family 
members. A further 114 ex-combatants were reached though professional vocational training in 
trades such as carpentry, sewing, welding and mechanics.

• FOCHI also supported a variety of community development projects ranging from tailoring, goat 
breeding, mechanical training, all supporting small business initiatives and income generating 
activities for local communities that supported 898 people. 

• FOCHI also ran an ex-combatant livelihood training programme, a crucial way of reintegrating 
former fighters back into civilian life and breaking down fears in existing communities. Through 
ex-combatants associations 298 people were reached. 

Sri Lanka
Our work supporting our long-standing partner, the Centre for Peacebuilding and Reconciliation 
(CPBR), faced significant challenges due to a shortage in funding. However, a highlight of the year 
was a trip organised with Peace Direct’s corporate partner, AWAY, Peace Direct staff and four 
external experts in the communications and digital fields, including a filmmaker and photographer.

The team travelled to Jaffna in the north of the country, one of the areas most affected by the war. 
The CPBR team hosted visits to their work with women’s cooperatives and for International Peace 
Day hosted an Exhibition for Dialogue, a key pillar of their work with local communities. 
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In the exhibition, pictures were displayed that had been taken by young people trained in 
photography who have a unique perspective on the most pressing issues in their communities. The 
photos were then used as a springboard for facilitated discussions about issues such as the civil 
war, those who disappeared in the war, religious tensions, and the difficult task of reconciliation. 
Significantly, CPBR invited both Buddhist and Hindu faith leaders, a crucial aspect of breaking 
down religious tensions. One Buddhist leader said: “Their hearts are broken because of war. It is 
my job to heal them. I shake everyone’s hand and make them all feel welcome so I can help break 
down the barriers to building peace.” 

Philippines 
The political and security situation in the Philippines in 2017 deteriorated dramatically, affecting 
the work of our local partner, Kapamagogopa Incorporated (KI). An outbreak of violence by an ISIS-
linked group in Marawi destroyed a city close to where KI works, leading KI to quickly providing 
support to those who were internally displaced. 

KI placed seven Muslim volunteers in Christian organisations as part of their core work. Because 
of the outbreak of violence, four of these volunteers were placed in a camp for internally displaced 
persons. Support from KI volunteers ranged from the distribution or urgent aid to people unable to 
access government services, psychosocial support, and support in creating small income activities 
such as setting up small farms. Through this, and in collaboration with other organisations, 23,281 
people were reached.

KI also continued to support a project that began last year with disadvantaged women in the 
southern island of Mindanao, an area that has been affected by decades of war. Through dedicated 
training sessions, KI reached 2073 women directly, most of them wives, families or ex-combatants 
from armed groups, scaling up the work already being done with female ex-combatants. KI provided 
training on women’s rights and advocacy, and supported women to learn about the peace process 
with the broader aim of bringing women’s voices to the negotiating table. 

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Continue to provide support to the Big Lottery funded community reintegration project in DR 

Congo, ensuring the fourth and final year is successful. 
• Providing support to the Peace Gold project in DR Congo and establishing first steps for 

activities. 
• Continuing to support the livelihoods and transitional work of FOCHI in South Kivu, funded by a 

grant from the German Federal Foreign Office.
• Develop a new project with our local partner in Sri Lanka. 
• Supporting work in the Philippines with female ex-combatants, following a successful year of 

project activities in 2017. 
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Key Strategic Objective 3 
The policies, attitudes and practice of international 
donors and policymakers will be more supportive of 
local peacebuilding, through focused effort to raise 
peacebuilders’ voice, profile and expertise. 

Objective 3.1: Local peacebuilders will have greater access to, and 
participate more fully in, decision making around specific Government 
security and development policy and practice, with an emphasis on UK/US 
& UN policy.

Why this is important
Local organisations rarely receive the opportunity to engage with donor governments on peace and 
security issues. There are many reasons for this, including a lack of knowledge among governments 
and the UN of the presence of local organisations, the logistical difficulties that local organisations 
face in travelling to and communicating with donor governments, and the dominance of a model 
of aid delivery that involves donor governments engaging with a small number of large INGOs. 
We aim to change this because we believe that when local actors have the chance to share their 
perspectives and views with governments, policies are likely to better reflect the needs and realities 
of those on the frontline of conflict.

What we did this year
• As a result of the publication and dissemination of our Local Voices for Peace (LVP) reports, 

further explained under objective 3.3, we held a webinar that brought together a group of 
policymakers and three Zimbabwean peacebuilding activists. The reports, which were shared 
with key decision-makers in the US and UN, further enabled direct meetings in Washington 
DC and New York with representatives from local peacebuilding organisations from Burundi, 
Nigeria, and Lebanon. 

• We organised visits for our local peacebuilding partners from Nigeria and Pakistan to 
Washington, DC, and New York, allowing them to speak directly to key decision-makers, funders, 
and peacebuilding colleagues about their work preventing and countering radicalisation and 
promoting youth-led peacebuilding. The visits also enabled us to further disseminate our Local 
Voices for Peace on Northern Nigeria and Pakistan, which were shared at key meetings in 
Washington, and enabled our Local Peacebuilding Expert from Nigeria, Michael Femi Sodipo to 
connect with the US Ambassador to Nigeria. 
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• We continued to collaborate with the US Institute of Peace (USIP), and in September, Peace 
Direct co-hosted an event with USIP on the sidelines of the UN General Assembly sessions, 
highlighting the work of local peacebuilders and nonviolent activists. We took part in a range of 
UN General Assembly Events, securing a speaking opportunity for Saba Ismail from Aware Girls 
at a UN event in New York on youth and peacebuilding on International Peace Day, contributing 
to our ongoing efforts to advocate for increased research and engagement with the Youth, Peace 
and Security UN resolution (2250). 

• We continued our advocacy activities on the entrenched crisis in Burundi, through taking a 
leadership role in the Burundi Working Group in Washington DC, and facilitating meetings for 
our local partner with the US Embassy in Bujumbura. We were one of a small group of NGOs 
invited to a briefing with the US Ambassador to Burundi and the new Special Representative to 
the Great Lakes, to discuss our work and recommendations for advancing a peaceful resolution 
to the crisis. 

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Continue high level advocacy at the UN and to the US Government on Burundi including at least 

one visit from our partners. 
• Run advocacy outreach in relation to two new publications we will produce on Atrocity 

Prevention and Youth and Peacebuilding. 
• Organise visits for peacebuilders from Mali, Somalia and at least one other country to the US.

Objective 3.2: Donors and INGOs in developed and developing countries 
will recognise the value and contributions that local peacebuilders can 
make, and will change their funding and partnership approach to ensure 
that local peacebuilders receive greater levels of support. 

Why this is important
Very little funding from international donors makes its way to local organisations. In fact, 
according to the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, less than 2% 
of all humanitarian funding is allocated to local organisations. We are determined to change this 
which is why we invested time and effort in engaging with donors and INGOs to persuade them 
to change their practices and funding approach so that local organisations receive more funding 
directly.
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What we did this year
• We published a report based on the findings of a research collaboration between Peace Direct 

and the Peace and Security Funders Group (PSFG). The research was initiated to understand 
the extent to which PSFG members fund local organisations; highlight the achievements of 
such funding; identify best practices; and articulate opportunities, limitations and challenges 
to further encourage this trend. The most encouraging and surprising research finding was that 
80% of survey respondents confirmed that there is a culture and practice of funding locally 
within their organisations. In this regard, PSFG members deserve recognition for leading in 
an area where many government and institutional donors still lag behind. The full report is 
available online here: https://www.peacedirect.org/publications/supporting-local-organizations-
challenges-opportunities-us-funders/ 

We also made great progress in our two USAID funded ‘Local Works’ research projects:

• The ‘Facilitating Financial Sustainability’ (FFS) project has had an extremely successful first year 
and has already produced key insights regarding how local organisations can improve financial 
sustainability and how donors can provide better support through their funding approaches. 
Since the project began in March 2017, Peace Direct has successfully conducted background 
research in three countries: Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Democratic Republic of Congo and the 
Philippines, including interviews, focus groups, and meetings with local governments. As a result, 
we now have a greater understanding of how local organisations can successfully overcome 
contextual challenges, and how donors can work to better support the organisations they fund. 

The final report from year one of the research will be finalised in 2018, and the FFS project is 
now moving into the next phase of the research, where we will be leading an Action Learning 
Group in the DRC and co-leading one in Colombia.

• The ‘Stopping As Success’ (SAS) research project, a collaborative learning project carried out 
by Peace Direct, Search for Common Ground and CDA Collaborative Learning Projects, had a 
similarly successful year. A lot of interest has been generated amongst INGOs and donors on 
exit strategies and aid transitions. Given the changing aid context in many Western countries, 
increased desire has been expressed among INGOs about responsible exits. This year, we 
conducted an extensive literature review to incorporate a range of perspectives and voices, 
and interviewed 30 key informants. In parallel, an online consultation was organised for aid 
practitioners and recipients from around the globe to critically engage with some of the key 
themes identified in the literature review. There was a fantastic level of participation in the 
consultation, with almost 100 participations joining from across the globe. 
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Plans for 2018 include: 
• Carry out 20 case studies in 12 countries as part of the SAS USAID funded research project, 

managing a regional workshop to take place in June and building a SAS website to increase 
advocacy around the project. seven case studies and oversee another 12 case studies and run 
two regional workshops for the Stopping as Success USAID funded research project.

• Collect case studies and set up an Action Learning Group in DR Congo and one other country for 
the FFS USAID funded research project. 

• Ensure at least one partner participates in the Alliance for Peacebuilding annual conference in 
Washington. 

Objective 3.3: Local knowledge on conflict issues is more widely valued 
and available, leading to a better understanding of local conflict dynamics, 
needs and profile of local peacebuilders. 

Why this is important
Conflict analysis, research and information is dominated by external actors, think tanks and 
universities. While much of this research is valuable, very little of it is based on the experience and 
knowledge from local practitioners on the frontline of conflict, or is led by local organisations. When 
the local perspective is missing, the context analysis is incomplete and, at worst, can be dangerously 
misleading. We aim to change this.

What we did this year
• We relaunched our improved, expanded and rebranded flagship online resource, formerly 

‘Insight on Conflict’ and now called ‘Peace Insight’ (www.peaceinsight.org) in order to refresh 
the content, look and offering of the website. The site attracted 433,827 visits over the year 
and 706,518 page views. By the end of the year over 1,500 local organisations had been profiled 
across 44 conflict affected countries, an increase on our 2016 mapping. We also integrated 
conflict data from the Armed Conflict Location and Event Data Project (ACLED) and other 
sources. The new site includes improved mapping visualisations and we plan to build upon this in 
2018. 

• Peace Direct publications highlighting the work and views of local peacebuilders from Nigeria, 
Zimbabwe and Pakistan were shared with approximately 300 peace and security practitioners, 
policymakers, academic and NGO stakeholders in the US through newsletters and email 
distribution, and with practitioners worldwide through the Peace Insight email distribution lists. 
The Zimbabwe report, one of the ‘Local Voices for Peace’ (LVP) reports which emerged from a 
practitioner workshop held in Harare, was distributed in Zimbabwe amongst civil society groups 
and used in their advocacy in-country. The LVP report from Nigeria and the report on tackling 
violent extremism in Pakistan were distributed with key decision-makers in the US and UN. The 
Pakistan report was further distributed at the launch of Deakin University’s AVERT network: 
http://avert.net.au/, and additionally distributed at the UNESCO Headquarters in Paris.
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• The report on Countering Violent Extremism (CVE), produced following a global consultation 
convened by Peace Direct, was distributed among participants and shared directly with 
policymakers. The report was additionally disseminated during meetings with the USAID CVE 
Coordinator and Senior Advisor, and were esteemed as a key resource in the field by research 
institutes who used the report.

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Launch an ‘atrocity risk barometer’ on Peace Insight so we can better highlight the risk of atrocities 

in certain countries, through the ‘Peace Dispatch’ mapping feature. Through ‘Peace Dispatch’ we 
will produce a monthly mapping update for live incidences of violence and peacebuilding initiatives, 
increasing the capacity of Peace Insight to provide country focus and expert analysis of data on 
conflict and peacebuilding. 

• Ensure the Peace Insight blog showcases the best local analysis of conflict issues and peacebuilding 
responses and increase online engagement with the site through better interactivity. 

• Publish four LVP reports; on Atrocity Prevention and Youth and Peacebuilding, Somalia and Mali, 
and continue outreach with the previous reports. 

Objective 3.4: Peace Direct aims to be a champion for local peacebuilders 
globally and will seek allies across different sectors and disciplines to 
amplify our message, develop targeted campaigns and help build a broad-
based coalition of supporters for locally-led peacebuilding. 

Why this is important
Local peacebuilders have few resources to promote themselves and raise their profile, which limits 
the national and international attention and resources they can generate. We believe that if we can 
champion their cause and their views to those in power, including those from other sectors as well 
as to a broad audience of people who care about these issues, we might be able to tip the balance of 
resources and attention in their favour.

What we did this year 
• In a first for Peace Direct, Gulalai Ismail, the co-founder of our partner organisation called Aware 

Girls in Pakistan, took the stage at TEDx Exeter. From witnessing inequality as a young girl in 
Pakistan, to defying the Taliban, and founding a peacebuilding organisation, Gulalai revealed how 
she is building an equal and peaceful world, starting from her local community. The inspiring and 
powerful talk, is available online: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gWJkd0CWWgE 

• At this year’s Alliance for Peacebuilding annual conference that took place in October 2017, 
Peace Direct had a high profile. US Senior Representative Bridget Moix was invited to be the 
civil society respondent to the Assistant Secretary General for Peacebuilding’s keynote address 
during the conference. Three of our local partners from Nigeria, Lebanon and Pakistan attended 
and spoke during the conference, and we held a joint reception at the conference to highlight 
local peacebuilders. Our workshop on peacebuilding and violent extremism, in collaboration with 
Saferworld, Mercy Corps, and Search for Common Ground was attended by over 40 participants. 



Peace Direct Annual Report 2017 / 29

Progress against plan in 2017

• We continued to be present at a variety of other high-profile events. Bridget Moix spoke at a high-
level UN event in New York hosted by the President of the General Assembly on the Sustaining 
Peace Agenda with an audience of over 90 academics, UN staff, NGO representatives, and 
students. We spoke at other events including a UN- sponsored event on youth and peacebuilding 
and an event on genocide prevention hosted by the Armenian General Benevolent Union in 
conjunction with International Genocide Commemoration Day. We were involved in additional 
meetings including a meeting with the New York Peacebuilding Group, and a briefing for staff of the 
White House National Security Staff on peacebuilding approaches to violent extremism.

• We advocated for greater support to local peacebuilders through our active participation in 
a variety of thematic groups and meetings, including the UN Peacebuilding Group, the Local 
Peacebuilding Working Group, the Peace and Security Funders Group and the Conflict and 
Atrocities Prevention Working Group. We also facilitated meetings with high profile figures 
and funders, including a meeting with Ambassador Mozena, the US Special Representative on 
Boko Haram, to discuss community-based reintegration and our partners’ work, and a meeting 
between a Sudanese peacebuilding and human rights activist and US State Department and 
USAID colleagues in Washington DC. 

• In collaboration with many other groups, we joined various letters calling for the incoming US 
Secretary of State, UN Ambassador, and US Congress to help prevent violent conflict and to 
support civil society in peacebuilding, for example urging for support for new legislation for a 
Global Violence Reduction Initiative. Key points from our various advocacy activities were found 
to be reflected in publications such as a letter from the US Senate Foreign Relations Committee. 

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Contribute to a media symposium being held in New York in April 2018, showcasing local 

peacebuilders and highlighting the role the media can play in reporting peace. 
• Develop a concept for a campaign calling for support to local peacebuilding in consultation with 

our partners. 
• Continue advocacy around the ‘sustaining peace’ agenda at the UN, including four events in 

collaboration with the IPI, and continue advocacy at the UNGA. 
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Peace Direct and its partners aim to be at the forefront 
of learning and reflection on what works in the field of 
local peacebuilding, as well as what support the local 
peacebuilding sector needs from outsiders. 

Objective 4.1: Peace Direct will become a learning organisation, constantly 
questioning and testing assumptions, piloting new ideas, and analysing 
success and failure in equal measure.

Why this is important
We believe that to really advance the peacebuilding field, we need to aspire to the highest standards 
in learning and reflecting on our own practice, particularly when things don’t go well. Being a 
learning organisation is more than just having good Monitoring and Evaluation systems. We believe 
that it is an entire way of thinking about our work and requires discipline and practice to analyse 
success and failure. If we can model this behaviour internally, we believe we will be a better partner 
and will make a better contribution to sector thinking.

What we did this year 
• We held quarterly off-site reflection sessions to give staff an opportunity to take stock of 

progress and setbacks over the year and to adjust their work accordingly.

• We provided training days on Myers Briggs personality types to increase team understanding of 
differing working styles. 

Plans for 2018 include:
• Organise six monthly and annual reflection days to ensure opportunities are there to reflect on 

what has gone well, and not so well. 
• Offer specific training to all staff on one thematic issues.
• Conduct learning and reflection sessions with partners after external evaluations as part of their 

M&E frameworks. 
• Continue lunch time sessions to increase learning flows within the organisation. 

Progress against plan in 2017
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Objective 4.2: Peace Direct’s commitment to learning will be reflected 
in a suite of high quality initiatives linked to our thematic and strategic 
priorities. We will do this with local peacebuilders, academic institutions 
and other sector leaders/networks that contribute to sector learning, 
builds an evidence base, and helps improve government and NGO 
policy and practice. 

Why this is important
Evidence of what works and doesn’t work in the field of peacebuilding is in short supply, and this 
undermines the sector’s collective efforts to secure changes to government and donor policy and 
practice. We believe that a large part of the problem is that while there is a wealth of good practice, 
innovation and successful peacebuilding taking place at the local level, very little of this is written up 
and disseminated, and what little is written up is not disseminated in a way that is always accessible 
for a non-specialist audience. 

What we did this year
• In 2017 we completed evaluations of our work in Zimbabwe and Pakistan. Both evaluations 

provided invaluable insights into the strengths and weaknesses of the work. As part of our 
efforts to disseminate the key learning more widely we produced ‘learning summaries’, four page 
designed summaries which can read quickly. We also had evaluations undertaken in DR Congo, 
Afghanistan, Sudan and Burundi which we will write up to share with the sector. 

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Produce five learning summaries (Somalia, Burundi, Philippines, Afghanistan/Pakistan, DR 

Congo) and disseminate all eight learning summaries (DR Congo, Sudan, Zimbabwe). 
• Disseminate a paper on best practice in Early Warning and Early Response (EWER).
• Complete six evaluations of work in Philippines, Nigeria, Syria, Sudan, Burundi and three in  

DR Congo.
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Objective 4.3: Peace Direct will be a thought leader in exploring 
and promoting locally led and sustainable models/approaches of 
monitoring, evaluation and learning. 

Why this is important
So much theory and Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) practice is based on European and North 
American models, both from donors as well as INGOs. These models have become ubiquitous, 
leaving very little opportunity for local organisations to adapt their systems to the changing context 
or to devise their own approaches to M&E. We want to change this.

What we did this year 
• Throughout the year we conducted a stocktake on our partners M&E capability, tools and 

approaches, with a view to developing a more systematic and locally led approach to M&E. 

• We began work with Harvard University exploring the utility of creating a peace scale to 
aggregate data across all our projects. 

Plans for 2018 include: 
• Use the M&E stocktake to plan more capacity building for local partners. 
• Explore frameworks for collective impact analysis. 
• Create an M&E system to capture the impact of research and advocacy activities. 
• Revisit the peace scale to develop a way of aggregating our data. 
• Attending sectoral events and roundtables to share learning. 
• Complete conflict analyses for some partners. 
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Key Strategic Objective 5 
Peace Direct will double its annual income over the next 
five years, to £3m, and will have a diverse and stable 
source of financing, enabling it to cover core costs from 
unrestricted funding, test new approaches and ideas 
with partners, and build reserves that protect it from 
unforeseen fluctuations in income. 

Objective 5.1: Unrestricted income from individual donors will increase to 
a level that equals at least 50% of core running costs by the end of year 5. 

Why this is important
Having diverse and sustainable sources of income is crucial for all our work. With unrestricted funds 
covering core costs, we can work flexibly with our local partners. This ensures urgent work can take 
place and that we have the resources to support our partners for the long term.

What we did this year 
• Unrestricted income from individual donors, including Major Donors, stood at £247,697. This 

was an increase of 3% on the previous year. This was due to additional income coming from a 
fundraising activity, the Island Challenge, which offset the impact of the ending of the 3-year 
period for which many donations were pledged. 

• We launched a new fundraising product based on the concept of training a peacebuilder in a war zone. 

• We continued our successful partnership with AWAY, a premium direct-to-consumer luggage brand 
based in New York and began a series of pro bono projects with their talented staff to improve our 
marketing and communications. Highlights include their help launching our first digital campaign, 
their support in rebranding Peace Insight, and their trip to our local partner in Sri Lanka with 
external Instagram influencers helping us to reach out to completely new audiences. 

• We participated in several outreach events and activities including festivals and talks in order to 
increase the outward facing work of Peace Direct. This helped increase brand awareness, drive 
interest in Peace Direct’s mission and reach out to new members of the public in person and 
through email sign ups. 

Plans for 2018 include:
• Continuing to deepen our relationship with AWAY through skill sharing, mini projects and 

planning joint marketing. 
• Optimise digital acquisition as part of the new product launch. 
• Research and implement a strategy to engage more Major Donors. 
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Objective 5.2: Peace Direct will market its competencies in mapping, 
convening and supporting local peacebuilders to generate income from 
commercial contracts and grants that is equivalent to at least 20% of 
core running costs.

Why this is important
One of the first steps that need to be taken to change public policy and practice in favour of local 
peacebuilding is to demonstrate what local peacebuilding capacity exists on the ground. Mapping 
local capacities for peace draws attention to the lifesaving work of local groups, and is the first step 
in what is a long term process of increasing the profile of the sector worldwide. Over the years we 
have developed and refined our mapping capabilities. We now hope to use this capability to support 
other types of mapping work, to generate more income to further our mission. We also hope to 
commercially market our capabilities to provide training and consultancy on conflict related issues, 
to generate income for the organisation.

What we did this year 
• We relaunched our flagship mapping project, now called ‘Peace Insight’, with vast improvements 

in its mapping capabilities. The site now pulls through the latest data on incidences of violence 
around the world, juxtaposing those to peacebuilding initiatives. The longer term aim is for 
the site to become the one stop resource for journalists, students practitioners and interested 
parties working in conflict and peacebuilding. 

• In October 2017 we ran a week long course in Nairobi for peacebuilding practitioners, in 
partnership with COPA and led by Dr Simon Fisher. The purpose was to continue the courses 
established by the organisation Responding to Conflict, now closed, and to generate surplus 
funding for Peace Direct. The course was well attended and received very positive feedback from 
the participants. 

Plans for 2018 include:
• Run one successful RTC course and generate a surplus for Peace Direct. 
• Establish a roster of consultants who can work for Peace Direct. 
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Objective 5.3: Peace Direct will secure at least £2m per year of 
institutional and Trust/Foundation income from a diverse range of 
sources by the end of the strategic period. 

Why this is important
Much of our work with partners has scaled up over the years, and as the reach and scale increases, 
there is a greater need for us to identify large institutional sources of funding that can sustain this 
work in addition to income for trusts and foundations. We have been very fortunate to have secured 
institutional funding for some of our work to date but more effort needs to be made to expand our 
institutional and trust and foundation donor base in the coming years to insure our income meets 
the needs of the projects and is appropriately diverse.

What we did this year 
• Restricted institutional income in 2017 was £2,506,677, an increase of 85% on 2016. 

• We expanded our donor base, receiving a new grant of £1,496,314 from the German Federal 
Foreign Office for our work in DR Congo. The project will empower communities to develop 
accessible local justice, encourage ex-combatants and vulnerable young people to work together 
to create sustainable income opportunities and strengthen local civil society, feeding into 
regional peacebuilding.

• The Belgian Ministry of Foreign Affairs awarded a grant of £148,567 for a 12-month project in 
Sudan. The project which will allow an existing network of local Peace Committees to continue 
rapid responses to local outbreaks of violence and create an early warning early response system 
which can monitor and respond to violence more effectively. 

• In an exciting new opportunity, Peace Direct won a grant of $470,000 as part of a competition 
run by the GHR Foundation and OpenIDEO. Out of hundreds of applications, Peace Direct’s 
project to produce ethical, sustainable and environmentally friendly gold as a pathway to peace 
in DR Congo was one of the five winning ideas. The three-year project will build opportunities for 
peace and provide environmental protection in the fragile DR Congo, while providing sustainable 
incomes to ex-combatants and training in conflict resolution, peacebuilding and environmentally 
responsible gold production. 

• Peace Direct received a grant of £430,575 from the Canadian Government to provide capacity 
building support and microgrants to a network of peacebuilding organisations across Mali. 

• The Swedish based Folke Bernadotte Academy provided £95,845 for work in the Philippines 
with female ex-combatants and young people to give them sustainable income opportunities and 
allow them greater involvement in the national and local peacebuilding processes. 
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Plans for 2018 include:
• Visit donor governments including Canada, Sweden, Belgium, Netherlands and Switzerland and 

conduct in-country visits to donor governments in at least five other countries. 
• Continued work with our partners to increase the quality of their projects and make them more 

appealing to a variety of donors. 
• Secure two new institutional grants and raise at least £400,000 from trusts and foundations. 
• Develop a proposal for advocacy funding and create a system for monitoring US funder leads. 
• Attend relevant funding meetings and reach out to new donor communities in America. 

Objective 5.4: Peace Direct’s marketing and communications will reinforce 
our position as a leader in locally led peacebuilding and will engage with 
and persuade key audiences about the power of local action.

Why this is important
Despite images and stories about conflict and war being in the news every day, those working for 
peace have almost no media profile or visibility in the UK, and this makes fundraising and advocacy 
efforts extremely challenging. We want to change this, as we firmly believe that it is vital to educate 
the public and other stakeholders on these issues, to inspire them to action and to change their 
attitudes towards how conflicts can be resolved.

What we did this year
• We began work with a communications agency to help us increase our outreach to the traditional 

press. By the end of the year we had placed one press article from our local partner in Somalia, 
started to build contacts with journalists, and begun training our partners on engaging more with 
the media. 

• We rebranded and relaunched ‘Peace Insight’, formerly ‘Insight on Conflict’ with a new logo 
and valuable new features on the website. We will continue to roll out and communicate 
about the improvements to ensure this maintains its position as the leading resource on local 
peacebuilding. 

• We continued to enhance our social media presence further, through varied content on 
Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn, and launched Instagram for the organisation, quickly building a 
following and reaching out to a new audience. 

• We formally launched our corporate partnership with AWAY which included the launch of an 
interactive minisite featuring stories, film and photography from some of our partners, available 
at https://impact.awaytravel.com/. 

• With the support of an external consultant we developed a communications strategy to help us 
refine our messaging across our print and digital channels. 
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Plans for 2018 include:
• Develop fundraising on Peace Insight and explore how it can be used to generate income. 
• Continue to grow Instagram and develop channel specific guidelines for all digital platforms. 
• Continue to develop and improve story gathering from partners to support fundraising and 

advocacy. 
• Launch a public campaign to increase our public outreach and continuing to work with the 

communications agency on traditional press outreach. 
• Continue to steward the AWAY corporate partnership and work on specific digital and 

communications projects to increase quality and quantity of outputs. 
• Expand our cohort of patrons and ambassadors. 
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Key Strategic Objective 6 
Peace Direct will have skilled and motivated staff, Board 
and interns and will develop its systems and process to 
enable it to deliver high quality work and support to local 
peacebuilders around the world. 

Objective 6.1: Peace Direct will invest in staff, volunteer and Board 
training and development to ensure that they have the skills to deliver 
their work to the highest standards.

Why this is important
We are committed to investing in staff and Board development as we strongly believe that skilled 
staff and Board are essential for a healthy and dynamic organisation.

What we did this year 
• We recruited two new Board members to our US Board, helping to build that back up to strength 

and adding important new skills and experience to the existing Board members there. 

Plans for 2018 include:
• Introduce 360 feedback as part of the appraisal process. 
• Ensure Boards in the UK and US have sufficient members to fulfil future growth needs and 

develop a diversity policy for the Board. 
• Review and revise key policies (staff development, travel risk assessment, maternity/paternity, 

appraisal, leave etc) to ensure they are fit for purpose and reflect good practice.
• Continue to invest in training and development for all staff. 

Objective 6.2: Peace Direct’s internal systems will be strengthened and 
will meet externally accredited quality standards. 

Why this is important
As Peace Direct grows and takes on larger and more complex projects, it is important that we 
continue to strengthen our systems and processes. This work will also help us to strengthen our 
partners’ systems and processes, ensuring that they are stronger and more sustainable.

What we did this year 
• We upgraded our server and moved to use Sharepoint, a better system to host our internal 

documents with much better out of office access for those travelling. 

• We completed the migration of the UK accounting system from Quickbooks desktop to 
Quickbooks online. 

Progress against plan in 2017
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Plans for 2018 include: 
• Introduce an internal communications platform such as Slack. 
• Integrate Salesforce with Quickbooks. 
• Review and update data security policies. 

Objective 6.3: Peace Direct will refine its structure, including exploring 
innovative ways of increasing its presence in other strategically important 
countries to support local peacebuilding efforts, without displacing local 
leadership. 

Why this is important
While Peace Direct was founded in the UK, we have an office in the US and are keen to explore 
ways in which we can expand our support to local organisations around the world without having 
to establish overseas offices in the countries where we support partners. We believe that overseas 
offices often unintentionally displace local efforts, thereby becoming part of the problem. We will 
continue to explore creative options for supporting more local organisations without having an 
in-country presence, as well as strengthening our US office so that it can enhance our advocacy and 
fundraising efforts.

What we did this year 
• Our efforts to strengthen our local peacebuilding support office in Eastern DR Congo were given 

a boost through funding from the German Federal Foreign Office. The office, based in South 
Kivu, is made up of two local consultants who provided a range of services in support of local civil 
society peacebuilding efforts. This included mapping of local peacebuilding capacity, convening 
workshops to help local organisations strategise and learn together, and engaging with local 
community consultations to understand what they see as the challenges and opportunities for 
building peace in their areas.

• Towards the second half of the year, we undertook a scoping study to determine the options for 
establishing an advocacy and fundraising office in the EU. We hope that a final decision will be 
made in Quarter 1 of 2018.

• In the US we employed our first member of staff. Bridget Moix, previously a part time consultant 
working for Peace Direct, was appointed as Peace Direct’s Senior US Representative and Head of 
Advocacy, and we were delighted to have this increased capacity for our US Office.

• To strengthen our governance for our US Office, we appointed two new Board members for our 
US affiliate, bringing the total number of Board members to five.
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Plans for 2018 include: 
• Strengthen US systems and fundraising capacity through the recruitment of a Development 

Officer. 
• Ensure sufficient support is provided to the North and South Kivu support offices in DR Congo, 

to strengthen the local peacebuilding sector further without displacing local leadership, and to 
provide greater strategic support and coordination to local peacebuilding organisations in the 
area, enhancing community interaction.

• Finalise the new formal structure between the UK and US offices and other overseas entities. 
• Establish a presence in a EU country. 
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Recognition and thanks

As always, we owe a debt of gratitude first to our partners, who 
are working on the frontlines of conflict, at great personal risk, 
to stop violence and build peace. We continue to be inspired by 
their bravery and are honoured to be working with them.

As in previous years, we could not have achieved our goals without the support of a range of 
donors and supporters. We are grateful for the continued financial support of the Foreign and 
Commonwealth Office, the European Union and the Ministries of Foreign Affairs in Belgium, 
Canada and Germany for our work in Sudan, Burundi, Mali, Somalia and DR Congo, as well as to 
our peace mapping work. USAID has also continued to support two research projects through their 
‘Local Works’ initiative. 

We are also indebted to the trusts, foundations and other bodies that have sustained our work, with 
those providing more than £10,000 per year including the Big Lottery Fund, the Commonwealth 
Foundation, the Blandford Lake Trust, the Alistair Berkley Charitable Trust, Stanley Thomas 
Johnson Foundation, Ploughsares Fund, the GHR Foundation and the Folke Bernadotte Academy. 
Many other trusts and foundations provided us with grants of up to £10,000 and we are grateful for 
their support.

We would like to thank our corporate partner, AWAY, who not only provided us with unrestricted 
funding to help us grow but also have committed to helping promote and market Peace Direct. We 
look forward to a long-term partnership with AWAY. 

We are also very thankful to our hundreds of individual and Major Donors who continue to sustain 
Peace Direct and to believe in what we do. Their unrestricted funding is so important to us in order 
to help us respond quickly and flexibly to the needs of our local partners. 

As in previous years, we would like to thank Google for providing us with free advertising, which 
helps drive traffic to our website. We also received pro bono support from law firm Hogan Lovells in 
the US, to help update our US bylaws.

Last but not least, we would like to thank the staff and board of Peace Direct, in the UK and in the 
US, who have dedicated significant time and effort to making sure that the organisation is achieving 
impact for those living in war zones. 
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Public benefit statement

The Trustees have had regard to Charity Commission guidance 
on public benefit. The public benefit of peaceful and stable 
communities is well recognised and can be measured in a 
number of ways that include infant mortality, health, education, 
employment and prosperity. Reduced conflict overseas also 
benefits the UK, in terms of enabling development funding to 
have a positive impact, and creates greater stability worldwide. 
We are confident that the work that local peacebuilders do in 
conflict areas can only be of public benefit. The effect of this work 
is summarised in the section on ‘Progress against goals in 2017’.

The cost of conflict is high – in both human and financial terms. As public spending comes under 
growing scrutiny, policy-makers know that prevention is nearly always better – and more cost-
effective – than cure. We aim to demonstrate that local is almost always more cost-effective – 
sometimes by an order of magnitude – than bringing in outside help. Forty per cent of conflicts 
reignite within 10 years of a ceasefire, but there is a growing body of evidence that conflict 
prevention and resolution strategies which embrace local people have a greater chance of lasting. 
So the UK public benefits will be realised in the long term by building civil societies where conflict 
can be resolved without violence. 

Therefore, the Board consider that they have complied with Section 17 of the Charities Act 2011 
with regard to the guidance on public benefit published by the Charity Commission.
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Structure, governance  
and management 

The Charity started as a Trust in 2004. Today its operations are governed by its Memorandum 
and Articles of Association dated 20 December 2007 (as amended December 2008). Peace 
Direct is registered under the Companies Act 1985 as a company limited by guarantee and 
not having a capital divided by shares. The company was registered as a charity on 18 March 
2009 under registration number 1123241. The charity complies fully with both the letter and 
spirit of the Data Protection Act 1998 and also the General Data Protection Regulation 2018, 
which will be effective from 25 May 2018. 

Recruitment and appointment of Trustees

The Trustees in office in 2017 are set out on page 4. We actively seek out Trustees with specific skill sets 
through advertising, recommendations and other sources. New Trustees are approved by the whole 
Board. Trustees must be at least 18 years of age. The Trustees may from time to time appoint a person 
to fill a vacancy or act as an additional Trustee. This appointment is subject to approval of the Trustees 
at the next quorate Trustee meeting.

Organisation

The Board meets quarterly. Its role is one of governance and strategic oversight. It approves the budget, 
operational and strategic plans, appoints the Chair and Chief Executive, and approves overall policy 
in relation to staff employment. The Board contributes in many ways to particular aspects of Peace 
Direct’s work, for example through sub-committees, mentoring staff, and advising on fundraising.

The Board also determines major issues that affect Peace Direct’s public image – for example whether 
to endorse campaigns promoted by other organisations, whether to engage in forms of fundraising that 
might be deemed sensitive, and any issues with a legal dimension. All other decisions are delegated to 
the Chief Executive, who consults the Board collectively, or individually where they have expertise to 
contribute or where they are thought likely to have particular views on a specific issue. 

Trustee induction and training

Induction is tailored to the individual requirements of Trustees, but in all cases involves introduction to 
the whole staff team, review of the operating and strategic plan, and review of the minutes of previous 
Board meetings. 
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Related parties

Peace Direct has no formal links with other organisations, other than our affiliate in the United States, 
but works closely with many in the fields of peacebuilding, human rights and accountability, both in the 
UK and overseas. 

No Trustee received any remuneration from the Charity (2016 – £nil) and none of the Trustees were 
reimbursed expenses incurred in the performance of their duties.

Risk management

The Trustees confirm that they are satisfied that adequate control actions and monitoring processes 
are in place to mitigate the charity’s exposure to major risks.

The major areas of risk which the Charity faces have been identified as:
• Operational – overseas and in UK
• Reputational
• Financial
• Human Resources
• Governance 

Appropriate actions to mitigate against the potential impact of each of these risk categories are 
considered on an on-going basis as part of the Risk Management process. They are summarised as follows:

Operational: The risk of injury or death to employees and consultants whilst overseas is minimised 
through the completion of a risk assessment for each trip and monitoring travel advice from FCO and 
by seeking information from other agencies. The failure to exercise due care and diligence with respect 
to the Charity’s IT systems, and the consequential loss and compromise of data, is countered through 
ownership of the IT system and its risks, staff training and the regular review of data security.

Reputational: The Board of Trustees determines the major issues that affect the Charity’s public image 
– for example whether to endorse campaigns promoted by other organisations, whether to engage 
in forms of fundraising that might be deemed sensitive, and any issues with a legal dimension. The 
potential risk from partners misreporting on projects is addressed by undertaking a comprehensive 
assessment of potential partners followed by regular monitoring. 

Financial: A possible fall in unrestricted reserves resulting from shortfalls in income or unanticipated 
expenditure would be foreseen through the receipt of regular financial reports and accurate 
and prompt re-forecasting allowing for timely reductions in non-essential core costs and the 
encouragement of earlier receipt of pledges from major donors. Foreign exchange losses are monitored 
and may be minimised through offset against foreign exchange gains, hedging, capping of costs in 
sterling as well as modifications to project budgets if agreed by the donor. Alternative funders may also 
be approached to make up for any budget shortfall caused by exchange rate losses. 
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Cash flow issues will be identified in advance by producing regular cash flow projections. 

Funding is diversified as much as possible so as to minimise the effect of specific funding applications 
being unsuccessful. In addition, there is continuing investment in potential new fundraising streams 
and products. If speculative income fails to materialise, this is offset by cancelling corresponding 
expenditure. Should donors change their modus operandi to funding partners directly, then the Charity 
would seek contributions for value added. Peace Direct is also considering a consultancy model to 
generate income from commercial contracts.

Human Resources: The disruption to the Charity’s work, risk to programme implementation and to 
key external relationships due to the unavailability of key staff member(s) owing to illness, resignation, 
etc, is addressed through the sharing of knowledge amongst the Senior Management Team and 
the comprehensive documentation of information and systems. Field visits also contribute to key 
partnership relations.

Governance: The Board of Trustees is responsible for the governance of the Charity. It meets quarterly 
and approves the budget, operational and strategic plans, appoints the Chair and Chief Executive, and 
approves overall policy in relation to staff employment. It also ensures good governance through the 
operation of sub-committees. The charity has clear policies on conflicts of interest, and in addition all 
trustees sign a code of conduct. The recruitment, appointment, induction and training of Trustees is 
detailed under the Structure, Governance and Management section of this report.

In addition, procedures are in place to ensure compliance with the Health and Safety of staff, 
volunteers, partners and third parties working on the Charity’s programmes. Internal control risks are 
minimised by the implementation of financial and other procedures.

The Charity adheres to the highest ethical levels in its fundraising policies and activities, and complies 
with other best practice and generally accepted standards.

Internal controls

The Trustees confirm that internal control procedures are in place in order to provide reasonable 
assurance against material misstatement or loss. They include:
• Comprehensive financial policies and procedures.
• Internal audit of cash handling and other financial procedures.
• Comprehensive system of annual budgets, approved by the Trustees, and financial reporting of 

actuals against budget.
• Regular forecasting of predicted income, expenditure and cashflow.
• Regular monitoring of reserves policy.
• Annual and interim reviews of the charity’s risk register.
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Financial review

This year saw Peace Direct’s income increase by 70% compared with 2016, 
at £3,095,306 over three times the figure raised in 2014. Such improvement 
is an excellent achievement in a challenging environment and one that 
reflects the very hard work undertaken by Peace Direct staff to support 
partners. It also provides a stable base from which to grow materially 
further in 2018. The two largest areas of growth were restricted grants, 
from several sources for various programmes, and corporate income. 
Income from Major donors fell short of expectation and of the prior year’s 
value due to this being the last year of the three year period for which many 
donations were pledged. Contract income was also down on the previous 
year as the ICSP (EU) funding for Insight on Conflict came to an end during 
2017. Income from Trusts and Foundations was £623,228 compared 
to £552,539 in 2016, while donations from individuals was £273,137 
compared to £280,906 in 2016.

Expenditure on fundraising activities in 2017 increased by 29% to £269,003, and will rise 
substantially in 2018 when several major projects are planned, some of which commenced in 
2017. Expenditure on charitable activities significantly increased from £1,698,293 to £2,644,812 
an increase of 56%. This reflects the significant increase in activity achieved in the year and in the 
value of restricted grants. The year 2017 also involved catching up on a backlog from late 2016, and 
resulted in a doubling of the value of grants to partners.

The unrestricted surplus for the year is £84,125, well above the previous year’s £59,485. This 
results from the positive impact of corporate income and leaves us with unrestricted reserves of 
£251,791 at year end (2016: £167,666).

Restricted reserves increased by £97,367 to £372,361, consequent upon a rise of 70% in the value 
of restricted grants. In addition, over £500,000 of income received in late 2017 was deferred until 
2018.

Staffing costs and levels increased during the year, with expenditure increasing from £515,927 in 
2016 to £600,874. This was largely a result of three factors: (a) the appointment of new members 
of staff, including a Project Officer and a Fundraising Officer (b) a full year of the new roles added 
in 2016; and (c) modest increases to existing staff salaries, as Peace Direct matches industry 
standards, and a full year of the mandatory Automatic Enrolment pension scheme. Against this, the 
SMT position of Head of International Programmes was vacant for much of 2017. Average actual 
staff numbers increased from 14 to 16, with most of the additional cost being covered by restricted 
income.
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Principal funding sources

Our income was split between individual donations (£273,137, 9%), trust and foundation grants 
(£623,228, 20%), institutional income (£1,518,321, 49%), contract income (£450,303, 14%), 
corporate income (£221,450, 7%), donated services (£3,000, < 1%) and other income (£5,868, < 1%). 

As part of our risk management strategy, Peace Direct strives to have a balance of funding sources 
and not become overly reliant on one funder or on funding linked to one specific partner. Our 
emphasis is on continuing to engage with our generous individual donor and corporate bases as 
these funds are for the most part unrestricted income and can be used to support and develop the 
Charity in work unsupported by restricted funders.

We are very grateful for the following pro bono services. Google Adwords support the search 
function for our website. John Byrne & Co, Cambridge provided pro bono legal services. 4 
unpaid volunteers contributed 150 days of work: in London they assisted with fundraising, 
communications, research for programmes and Insight on Conflict, and administration of 
Tomorrow’s Peacebuilders. 

Investment powers and policy

The Trust Deed authorises the Trustees to make and hold investments using the general funds of the 
charity. Due to fluctuating cash flow demands and substantial movements in exchange rates during 
the year, only a minimal balance was maintained in a low interest earning investment account so as 
to assist in cash flow management and to minimise the impact of exchange rate losses.

Reserves policy

The Charity requires free reserves in order to:
• cover gaps between incurring expenditure and receiving the corresponding grants for certain 

projects
• maintain services until new income streams can be found if funding is withdrawn or if other 

income targets are not reached
• pay for unforeseen expenditure
• innovate and seed fund new projects and undertake research

The Trustees consider that in the medium to long term it is desirable to achieve a level of 
unrestricted reserves equivalent to six months’ core expenditure. At 31 December 2017 this was 
calculated to be £450,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2017 free reserves increased from £167,666 to £251,791, 
and are budgeted to increase marginally in the year ending 31 December 2018. The goal of three 
months’ core expenditure has thus been achieved, and six months’ core expenditure is within reach.



48 / Peace Direct Annual Report 2017

Financial review

This will be achieved, inter alia, by efficient financial and operational management, effective cost 
control, the pursuit of additional and diverse sources of funding and the insistence on the financial 
viability of all activities undertaken by the Charity.

Policy on grant making

Peace Direct seeks to identify local organisations that are committed to stopping violence and 
building sustainable peace in their communities. In most cases, Peace Direct seeks out groups to 
support through long term partnerships and therefore does not respond to unsolicited requests for 
funding. Grants made overseas are monitored to ensure that funds are spent on charitable purposes 
and that strict principles of governance are met.
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Statement of Directors’ and 
Trustees’ responsibilities

The Trustees (who are also Directors of Peace Direct for the purposes of 
Company law) are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law the Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and 
applicable law). Under Company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of its 
income and expenditure for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are 
required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.
• Observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP.
• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.
• State whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements.
• Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the charitable company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show 
and explain the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 2011 and the 2015 Charity SORP – FRS 102. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Statement of disclosure  
to auditors

So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the company’s auditors are unaware. 
Additionally, the Directors have taken all the necessary steps that 
they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
charity’s auditors are aware of that information.

These accounts are prepared in accordance with the special provisions of Part 15 of the Companies 
Act 2006 relating to small entities.

Michael Ryder      

Chair of Trustees
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Independent auditor’s report to 
the members of Peace Direct

We have audited the financial statements of Peace Direct for the year ended 31 December 2017 
which comprise of the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, Statement of Cash 
Flows and notes to the financial statements. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the charitable company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the charitable company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and the charitable company’s members as 
a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company’s affairs as at 31st December 

2017, and of its surplus for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the charitable company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and the provisions available 
for small entities, in the circumstances set out in note 4 to the financial statements, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 
require us to report to you where:
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• the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

• the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties 
that may cast significant doubt about the charitable company’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Trustees’ Annual Report, other 
than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Trustees are responsible for the 
other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
• the information given in the Trustees’ Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
• the Trustees Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the charitable company and its environment obtained in 
the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees’ Annual Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not 

been received from branches not visited by us; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Peace Direct
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• certain disclosures of Trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
• the Trustees were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small 

companies regime and take advantage of the small companies’ exemptions in preparing the 
Trustees’ Annual Report and from the requirement to prepare a strategic report.

Responsibilities of trustees

As explained more fully in the statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities, the Trustees (who are also 
the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and 
for such internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the charitable 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to 
liquidate the charitable company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Peace Direct

Ian Shipley FCCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Prentis & Co LLP
Statutory Auditors and Chartered Accountants
115c Milton Road
Cambridge
CB4 1XE

3 May 2018
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Financial statements for 12 months ended 31 December 2017

Statement of financial activities for 12 months ended 31 December 2017

Notes

Unrestricted
Funds 

£

Restricted
Funds 

£

Designated
Funds 

£

Total  
2017 

£

Unrestricted
Funds 

£

Restricted
Funds 

£

Designated
Funds 

£

Total  
2016 

£

INCOME

Donations 2 471,713 43,824 515,537 325,387 40,785 366,171

Charitable Activities 3

International Programmes - 1,874,314 1,874,314 - 1,103,051 1,103,051

Research & Advocacy 67,225 632,363 699,588 99,654 251,992 351,646

Other Income 5,868 - 5,868 531 - 531

TOTAL INCOME 544,807 2,550,501 - 3,095,307 425,572 1,395,828 - 1,821,399

EXPENDITURE ON

Raising Funds 4 269,003 - 269,003 208,432 - 208,432

Charitable Activities 4

International Programmes 39,452 1,965,805 2,005,257 11,721 1,342,882 1,354,603

Research & Advocacy 152,226 487,329 639,555 145,935 197,755 343,690

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 460,681 2,453,134 - 2,913,815 366,088 1,540,637 - 1,906,725

Net Surplus/(Deficit) From 
Operations

84,126 97,367 - 181,492 59,485 (144,809) - (85,325)

Net Unrealised Exchange gains 22,961 - 22,961 10,957 - 10,957

Net Surplus/(Deficit) Before 
Transfers

107,087 97,367 - 204,453 70,442 (144,809) - (74,368)

Transfers Between Funds 12 (22,961) - 22,961 - (10,957) - 10,957 -

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 84,126 97,367 22,961 204,454 59,485 (144,809) 10,957 (74,367)

Funds Brought Forward 167,666 274,994 34,878 477,537 108,181 419,803 23,921 551,905

Funds Carried Forward 251,791 372,361 57,839 681,991 167,666 274,994 34,878 477,538

There were no recognised gains or losses for the above two financial periods other than those included in the Statement 
of Financial Activities

All movements derive from continuing activities

The notes on pages 61 to 75 form part of these accounts



56 / Peace Direct Annual Report 2017

Financial statements for 12 months ended 31 December 2017

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2017

Notes

2017 2016

£ £ £ £

FIXED ASSETS 8 12,112 4,056

CURRENT ASSETS

Debtors 9 281,548 381,736

Cash at Bank & in Hand 1,036,298 253,616

1,317,846 635,352

CREDITORS

Amounts falling due within one year 10 647,966 161,870

647,966 161,870

NET CURRENT ASSETS 669,880 473,482

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 681,991 477,538

CREDITORS

Amounts falling due after more than one year 11 - -

NET ASSETS 681,991 477,538

THE FUNDS OF THE CHARITY

Unrestricted Income Funds 12 251,791 167,666

Designated Income Funds 12 57,839 34,878

Restricted Income Funds 12 372,361 274,994

681,991 477,538

These accounts are prepared in accordance with the special provisions of Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006 relating 
to small entities and constitute the annual accounts required by the Companies Act 2006 and are for circulation to 
members of the charitable company.

Approved and authorised for distribution by the Board of Trustees on 3 May 2018

Company Number 06458464

Michael Ryder
Chair of Trustees

Carol Hodson
Treasurer
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Financial statements for 12 months ended 31 December 2017

Statement of cash flows as at 31 December 2017

Notes
2017 

£
2016  

£

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net cash (used in)/ provided by operating activities 16 771,783 (268,537)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Bank interest - 158

Purchase of fixed assets (12,062) (3,917)

Net cash provided by investing activities (12,062) (3,759)

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE YEAR 759,721 (272,296)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 253,616 514,955

Change in cash and cash equivalents due to exchange rate movements 22,961 10,957

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 17 1,036,298 253,616
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Notes to the accounts

1. Accounting policies

1.1 Basis of preparation of accounts

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting 
by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their 
accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland (FRS102) (effective 1 January 2015) – (Charities SORP (FRS102), the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies 
Act 2006.

Peace Direct meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. Assets and liabilities 
are initially recognised at historical cost unless otherwise stated in the relevant accounting 
policies.

The trustees consider there are no material uncertainties about the charitable company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. The trustees do not consider there are any sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the year end that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying value of either assets or liabilities within the next accounting period.

1.2  Income recognition

Voluntary income including donations, legacies and grants that provide unrestricted funding are 
recognised when entitlement and the amount can be measured with reasonable accuracy. Such 
income is only deferred when:
• The donor specifies that the grant or donation must only be used in future accounting 

periods; or
• The donor has imposed conditions which must be met before the charity has unconditional 

entitlement to it.

Income from charitable activities includes income received where the funds must be applied 
for specific purposes stipulated by the donor. Grant income included in this category provides 
funding to support performance activities and is recognised when entitlement and the amount 
can be measured with reasonable reliability. Income is deferred when performance-related 
grants are received in advance of the performance or event to which they relate.

Bank interest and investment income are included on a receipts basis.

Income Tax recoverable (Gift Aid) on donations received is included on an accruals basis.
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Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017

1.3  Volunteers and donated services and facilities

The value of services provided by volunteers is not incorporated into these financial statements. 
Further details of the contribution made by volunteers can be found in the Trustees’ Annual 
Report. Where services are provided to the charity as a donation that would normally be 
purchased from suppliers, this contribution is included in the financial statements at an 
estimated sum based on the value of the contribution to the charity. The income equivalent 
is recognised within incoming resources as a donation, and equivalent costs included within 
resources expended under the relevant cost categories.

1.4 Resources expended

Expenditure is recognised when a liability is incurred.

1.5 Cost of Generating Funds

Costs of generating funds are those costs incurred in raising income for the charity.

1.6 Charitable activities

Charitable activities include expenditure associated with achieving the objectives of the charity 
and include both the direct costs and support costs relating to these activities.

1.7 Governance costs

Governance costs include costs associated with meeting regulatory and statutory requirements 
of the charity and include the audit fees and costs linked to the strategic management of the 
charity. Under the new Charity SORP they are included in Charitable Activities on the face of 
the Statement of Financial Activities.

1.8 Support costs

Support costs include central functions and have been allocated to activity cost categories on a 
basis consistent with the use of resources, eg allocating property costs by number of staff, and 
staff costs by time spent in different areas of work by staff members.

1.9 Pension

The pension costs charged in the accounts represent the contributions payable by the charity 
during the period.

Pension costs represent contributions paid to a defined contribution scheme on behalf of the 
charity’s employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the company in 
an independently administered scheme.
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Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017

1.10 Funds structure

Unrestricted funds are available for use at the discretion of the Trustees and in furtherance of 
the general objectives of the charity.

Restricted funds are funds received where their use is subject to donor imposed conditions.

1.11 Grants payable

Grants are expensed in the period in which they are paid.

1.12 Operating leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged against income in a straight line basis over 
the lease term.

1.13 Irrecoverable VAT

All resources expended are classified under activity headings that aggregate all costs related to 
each activity. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the category of resources expended to which the 
item it relates to has been charged.

1.14 Taxation

The charity is a registered charity and claims exemption from income tax and corporation tax on 
income and activities arising from its charitable activities.

1.15 Foreign currency exchange gains and losses

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated in to sterling at the ruling 
rate of exchange at the year end.

Transactions in foreign exchange are translated into sterling using an average rate of 
exchange throughout the year. Exchange differences are taken into account in arriving at 
the net movement in funds for the year. Unrealised gains on conversion of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the year end are credited to a designated 
reserve to be utilised in offsetting any future foreign currency exchange losses.

1.16 Tangible fixed assets for use by the charity and depreciation.

Tangible fixed assets for use by the charity are stated at cost less depreciation. Depreciation is 
provided at rates calculated to write off the cost or valuation of fixed assets, less their estimated 
residual value, over their expected useful lives: computer equipment 3 years; fixtures and 
fittings 4 years. Equipment is capitalised where the purchase price exceeds £500.
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Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017

1.17 Debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount 
offered. Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due.

1.18 Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments with a short 
term maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of a deposit or 
similar account.

1.19 Creditors and Provisions

Creditors and provisions are recognised where the charity has a present obligation resulting 
from a past event that will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the 
amount due to settle the obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors are 
recognised at their settlement amount after allowing for any trade discounts due.

Deferred income represents income that has timing restrictions placed upon the use of that 
income so that it is recognised in a future period. 
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2. Income from donations

2017 2016

Unrestricted
£

Restricted
£

Total
£

Unrestricted
£

Restricted
£

Total
£

Donations from Individuals 247,697 25,440 273,137 240,122 40,785 280,906

Donated Services 3,000 3,000

Sub-total 247,697 28,440 276,137 240,122 40,785 280,906

Grants

Small Grants 12,950 12,950 7,450 7,450

Sir James Reckitt Charity 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000

Peace Direct Germany - - 3,846 3,846

The Mrs Wingfield Charitable Trust - - 5,000 5,000

Rockefeller Brothers - - 22,727 22,727

Blandford Lake Trust - - 10,000 10,000

Sub-total 17,950 - 17,950 54,023 - 54,023

Corporate

Away 202,066 15,384 217,450 31,242 31,242

Pukka Teas 4,000 4,000

TOTAL INCOME FROM DONATIONS 471,713 43,824 515,537 325,387 40,785 366,171

Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017



Peace Direct Annual Report 2017 / 63

3. Income from charitable activities

2017 2016

Unrestricted
£

Restricted
£

Total
£

Unrestricted
£

Restricted
£

Total
£

INTERNATIONAL PROGRAMMES

Grants Received

Institutions 

UK Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO) 115,524 115,524 429,745 429,745

German Federal Foreign Office 821,436 821,436 130,469 130,469

European Union 561,579 561,579 296,313 296,313

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Belgium 19,782 19,782 - -

Sub-total - 1,518,321 1,518,321 - 856,527 856,527

Trusts and Foundations

Big Lottery Fund 101,558 101,558 111,614 111,614

Network for Social Change 13,414 13,414 15,000 15,000

Chino Cienega Foundation 7,766 7,766 8,109 8,109

Brillig Charitable Trust - - 5,000 5,000

Stanley Thomas Johnson Foundation 23,168 23,168 39,333 39,333

Anonymous Donors - - 22,363 22,363

Spears-Stutz Charitable Settlement - - 5,000 5,000

Didymus - - 4,221 4,221

W F Southall Trust - - 3,000 3,000

Terra21 Foundation - - 7,000 7,000

J A Clark Trust - - 9,961 9,961

Scurrah Wainwright Charity - - 3,175 3,175

Peter Stebbings Memorial Charity - - 3,000 3,000

The Cotton Trust - - 4,000 4,000

Small Grants 1,200 1,200 5,748 5,748

Commonwealth Foundation 5,000 5,000 - -

PRBB Foundation 6,389 6,389 - -

Bryan Guinness Charitable Trust 5,000 5,000 - -

Alistair Berkley Charitable Trust 5,600 5,600 - -

Folke Bernadotte Academy, Sweden 96,249 96,249 - -

Ploughshares Fund 34,851 34,851 - -

GHR Foundation 55,798 55,798 - -

Sub-total - 355,993 355,993 - 246,524 246,524

Sub-total - 1,874,314 1,874,314 - 1,103,051 1,103,051

RESEARCH & ADVOCACY

Grants

Terra21 Foundation 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000

Anonymous Donors 165,281 165,281 219,054 219,054

Network for Social Change - - 11,938 11,938

Pickwell Foundation - - 15,000 15,000

Blandford Lake Trust 30,000 30,000 - -

Folke Bernadotte Academy, Sweden 8,234 8,234 - -

CB & HH Taylor 1984 Trust 6,000 6,000 - -

Alistair Berkely Charitable Trust 25,000 25,000

The Polden-Puckham Charitable Foundation 8,770 8,770 - -

Contracts 

European Union Instrument Contributing to Stability 
and Peace (ICSP)

67,225 - 67,225 99,654 - 99,654

USAID 383,078 383,078 - -

Sub-total 67,225 632,363 699,588 99,654 251,992 351,646

TOTAL INCOME FROM CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES 67,225 2,506,677 2,573,902 99,654 1,355,043 1,454,697

Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017
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4. Analysis of expenditure

Basis of 
Allocation

Cost of
Raising Funds

£

International
Programmes

£

Research & Advocacy
Programmes

£

2017
Total

£

Staff & Office Costs Direct Costs 114,716 128,897 249,214 492,827

Grants Payable (Note 5) Direct Costs 1,578,570 43,449 1,622,019

Programme & Direct Costs Direct Costs 111,685 164,934 287,248 563,868

Support Costs Staff & Office Costs 42,601 132,857 59,644 235,101

Total expenditure 2017 269,003 2,005,257 639,555 2,913,815 

Total expenditure 2016 208,432 1,354,602 343,690 1,906,724 

Basis of 
Allocation

Cost of
Raising Funds

£

International
Programmes

£

Research & Advocacy
Programmes

£

2017
Total

£

Staff & Office Costs Direct Costs 84,178 162,835 137,901 384,913

Grants Payable (Note 5) Direct Costs 811,778 41,208 852,986

Programme & Direct Costs Direct Costs 72,862 269,375 106,408 448,645

Support Costs Staff & Office Costs 51,393 110,613 58,174 220,179

Total expenditure 2016 208,432 1,354,602 343,690 1,906,723 

Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017
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5. Grants payable

Restricted Fund Grants – International Programmes
2017

£
2016

£

Centre Résolution Conflits (CRC), DRC 117,347 129,842

Aware Girls, Pakistan 33,498 33,720

Centre for Peacebuilding & Reconciliation (CPBR), Sri Lanka 6,589 7,377

Action for Peace & Development (APD), Burundi - 20,001

Fondation Chirezi (FOCHI), DRC 549,981 87,377

Collaborative for Peace, Sudan & South Sudan 42,945 157,034

Envision Zimbabwe Women’s Trust, Zimbabwe 9,752 14,112

INAMA, Burundi 146,254 120,618

Kapamagogopa Incorporated (KI), Philippines 63,138 664

Heartbeat, Israel-Palestine - 1,562

Social-Life & Agricultural Development Organisation (SADO), Somalia 593,385 225,337

Organization for Social, Cultural, Awareness and Rehabilitation (OSCAR), Afghanistan 5,927 14,135

West Africa Network for Peacebuilding (WANEP), Mali 9,752 -

Sub-total 1,578,570 811,778

Restricted Fund Grants – Research & Advocacy

West African Youth Network (WAYN), Sierra Leone – African Union advocacy - 11,938

Nigeria Peace Exchange - 3,373

Tomorrow's Peacebuilders prizes 22,217 24,327

Kapamagogopa Incorporated (KI), Philippines – Research and Development - 1,570

Zoom In, Turkey/Syria 8,316 -

Supporting Local Peacebuilding – various 6,616 -

Sub-total 37,149 41,208

Unrestricted Fund Grants – Research & Advocacy – various 6,300 

TOTAL GRANTS PAYABLE 1,622,019 852,986

Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017
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6. Net income/(expenditure) for year

This is stated after charging / (crediting):

2017
Total

£

2016
Total

£

Operating lease rentals:

Property 27,461 21,679

Depreciation 4,007 1,209

Auditor’s remuneration:

Audit fees 5,400 5,400

in respect of previous years - 1,249

Foreign exchange (gains) / losses - -

Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017
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7. Staff costs

2017
Total

£

2016
Total

£

Salary Costs 521,990 454,272

National Insurance Costs 49,342 42,692

Employer Pension Costs 29,543 18,963

600,874 515,927

Office and Other Staff Costs 117,389 81,872

718,264 597,799

There was one employee whose annual emoluments were £60,000 or more (2016 – nil): Between £60,000 and £69,999 
= one employee

The charity’s key management personnel are considered to be the senior management team (SMT) comprising 
at 31 December 2017 the CEO, and the Heads of International Programmes, Research & Engagement, Finance & 
Administration, Programme Development and Supporter Engagement.

Their total remuneration including NI and pension contributions amounted to £266,213 (2016 £293,795).

The average monthly full time equivalent number of staff employed by the charity during the period was as follows:

2017
Total

£

2016
Total

£

Raising Funds 3.71 3.40

Charitable Activities 12.44 10.63

16.15 14.03

Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017
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8. Fixed assets

Computer 
equipment 

£

Fixtures
& Fittings

£
Total

£

COST

As at 1 January 2017 19,783 7,579 27,362

Additions during period 12,062 - 12,062

As at 31 December 2017 31,845 7,579 39,424

DEPRECIATION

As at 1 January 2017 18,376 4,930 23,306

Charge for period 2,703 1,304 4,007

As at 31 December 2017 21,079 6,234 27,313

NET BOOK VALUES

As at 31 December 2017 10,766 1,345 12,111

As at 31 December 2016 1,407 2,649 4,056

Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017
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9. Debtors

2017
£

2016
£

Grant Debtors 139,249 318,877

Prepayments & Other Debtors 142,299 62,859

281,548 381,736

10a. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2017
£

2016
£

Creditors & Accruals 100,349 66,210

Taxation & Social Security 10,909 15,660

Deferred Income (Note 10b) 516,707 40,000

Loans due within one year 20,000 40,000

647,966 161,870

Within Taxation & Social Security is an amount of £269 relating to pension fund liabilities (2016: £3,609)

Income is deferred when it is received during the period but relates, in whole or in part, to one or more subsequent periods 
when the matching expenditure will be incurred.

10b. Deferred income

2017
£

2016
£

 Deferred income brought forward 40,000 40,530

 Released to income in year 40,000 40,530

 Income deferred in year 516,707 40,000

 Deferred income carried forward (Note 10a) 516,707 40,000

11.  Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

2017
£

2016
£

Loans due after more than one year: 0 0

Repayable in two to five years 0 0

0 0

These are two interest free loans of £20,000 each to provide cashflow and longer term security for the charity. The loans were 
repayable in September 2017 and were made for the sole purpose of allowing the charity to carry on its activities

Subsequently, one loan was repaid but attempts to contact the second lender have so far been unsuccessful.

Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017
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12.  Movement in funds

Purpose

Balance
01/01/2017

£
Income

£
Expenditure

£

Transfers
Between Funds

£

Balance
31/12/2017

£

Restricted Funds
International Programme Restricted Funds working with the following partners -
Centre Résolution Conflicts (CRC), DRC Supporting conflict affected 

communities in north Kivu
11,015 163,701 (163,542) 11,174

Aware Girls, Pakistan Supporting women's empowerment 
and tackling the causes of violence and 
extremism in KPK

21,681 58,005 (47,474) 32,213

Collaborative for Peace, Sudan Supporting local peace committees in 
South Kordofan

28,201 25,382 (68,065) (14,482)

Social-Life & Agricultural Development 
Organisation (SADO), Somalia

Supporting livelihoods for young people 
in Kismayo, Somalia

39,449 561,629 (673,403) (72,325)

Fondation Chirezi (FOCHI), DRC Supporting conflict affected 
communities in south Kivu

- 718,652 (678,763) 39,889

Centre for Peacebuilding & 
Reconciliation (CPBR), Sri Lanka

Supporting conflict affected young 
people in Sri Lanka

8,053 10,006 (8,590) 9,470

Action for Peace & Development (APD), 
Burundi

Supporting peace education in Burundi 3,364 - - 3,364

Envision Zimbabwe Women’s Trust, 
Zimbabwe

Supporting community level conflict 
resolution in Zimbabwe

(11,465) 5,200 (10,891) (17,156)

Kapamagogopa Incorporated (KI), 
Philippines

Supporting interfaith co-existence in 
Mindanao, Philippines

5,268 95,845 (72,882) 28,231

INAMA, Burundi Supporting violence monitoring and 
community level peacebuilding

27,501 225,941 (221,875) 31,567

Organization for Social, Cultural, 
Awareness and Rehabilitation (OSCAR), 
Afghanistan

Supporting local peace initiatives in 
Afghanistan

946 5,668 (6,615) ()

Peace Initiative Network (PIN), Nigeria Supporting local peacebuilding in 
Nigeria

- 13,414 (2,683) 10,731

Zoom In, Syria Supporting local peacebuilding in Syria - 630 (126) 504

West Africa Network for Peacebuilding 
(WANEP), Mali

Supporting local peacebuilding in Mali - - (10,897) (10,897)

Sub-total International Programme Restricted Funds 134,013 1,884,073 (1,965,805) - 52,283

Peace Direct Growth Fund Organisational development support to 
local peacebuilding organisations

- 25,680 (21,492) 4,188

Insight on Conflict Restricted Fund Supporting the Insight on Conflict 
website

7,500 - - 7,500

Tomorrow's Peacebuilders Restricted 
Fund

Supporting the Tomorrow's 
Peacebuilders awards programme

2,899 6,000 (22,217) (13,318)

Research Restricted Fund Supporting various peacebuilding 
research and advocacy projects

45,576 - (1,828) 43,748

Supporting Local Peace Building Supporting various local peacebuilding 
projects

85,006 173,515 (131,843) 126,678

Ammerdown Group Supporting participation in the 
Ammerdown Group's peacebuilding 
programmes

- 8,770 (400) 8,370

Stopping as Success (SaS) Contract with USAID - 274,058 (215,341) 58,716

Facilitating Financial Stability (FFS) Sub-contract with USAID via LINC - 109,021 (82,420) 26,601

Responding to Conflict (RTC) Projects inherited from RTC - 51,000 (8,787) 42,213

Corporate Income – Away Various developmental projects - 15,384 - 15,384

Donated services Pro bono legal advice re contractual 
dispute 

- 3,000 (3,000) -

Sub-total Research & Advocacy Restricted Funds 140,981 666,427 (487,329) - 320,079

Sub-total Restricted Funds 274,994 2,550,501 (2,453,134) - 372,362

Unrestricted Funds 167,666 544,807 (460,681) 251,792

Designated Funds – net unrealised 
exchange gains

Arising from net unrealised exchange 
gains, to be utilised in offsetting any 
future foreign currency exchange losses

34,878 22,961 57,839

Total Funds 477,538 3,118,269 (2,913,815) - 681,993

Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017

Negative balances arise from pre-financing of expenditure, including grants payable, prior to the receipt of the 
corresponding grant income. They revert to positive balances once grant income is received.
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13. Analysis of fund balances between net assets

2017
Unrestricted Funds 

£

2017
Restricted Funds 

£

2017
Designated Funds 

£

2017
Total Funds 

£

Tangible Fixed Assets 12,111 - - 12,111

Net Current Assets 239,680 372,361 57,839 669,880

251,791 372,361 57,839 681,991

14. Related party transactions

No trustees were re-imbursed for expenses during the period (2016 £nil) and no trustees received any remuneration 
from the charity (2016 £nil)

During 2017, donations were received from 2 trustees equalling a total of £319 (2016 £530 from 4 trustees)

15. Financial commitments

At 31 December 2017, the charity’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as 
follows:

2017 Total
£

2016 Total
£

LAND & BUILDINGS

Less than one year 30,000 18,638

One to five years 30,000 -

Total commitments 60,000 18,638

(the Charity moved offices in June 2017 and was committed to 2 year’s rental at 31 December 2017)

Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017
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16. Reconciliation of net income / (expenditure) to 
net cash flow from operating activities

2017
£

2016
£

Net income / (expenditure) for the year 181,492 (85,325)

Depreciation 4,007 1,209

Interest received - (158)

(Increase) / decrease in debtors 100,188 (213,863)

Increase / (decrease) in creditors 486,096 29,600

771,783 (268,537)

17. Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Balance 01/01/2017
£ 

Cash flows
£

Other changes
£ 

Balance 31/12/2017
£ 

Cash at bank and in hand 253,616 759,721 22,961 1,036,298

Notes to the accounts for 12 months ended 31 December 2017
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